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ASX Announcement 

GrowthOps (ASX:TGO)  

 

GrowthOps announces financial results for full year 2020 

 
● Renewed the board, management and company structure, and completed 

a Strategic Review of the Company to transform the business and 

position it for growth. 

● Swiftly adapted the Company’s business model, resources and functions 

to successfully enable remote working whilst continuing to meet its 

clients’ evolving and changing needs. 

● Pivoted the coaching and leadership practice to deliver its services 

online, and expanded its reach internationally. 

● Improved management of variable, project and contractor costs, and 

increased revenue margins in each of the last three quarters. 

● Reduced statutory net loss after tax to $43.7 million (30 June 2019: loss 

$65.0 million), including non-cash impacts of $37.02m detailed below.  

● Streamlined overheads, reducing underlying expenses. 

● Delivered positive operating cash flow of $2.47m, including $1.3m in 

government subsidies.  

● Extended Westpac Bank loan facility, along with revised financial 

performance covenants, and at 30 June 2020 was compliant with facility 

covenants. 

 

Trimantium GrowthOps Limited (‘GrowthOps’ or the ‘Company’) [ASX:TGO] today 

announced its financial results for the 12 months ended 30 June 2020 (‘Financial Period’, 

or ‘FY2020’), and reported on significant initiatives to reinvigorate the Company and 

develop long-term value for its clients, employees and shareholders. 

 

Upon its appointment in October 2019, the new board and CEO undertook a substantial 

Strategic Review of the Company to transform the business and position it for growth. 

The outcomes achieved from the review, including restructuring to increase the 

Company’s client and growth focus and deliver efficiencies and cost savings, are detailed 

in the review of operations in the directors’ report dated 30 June 2020. These changes 

were implemented without losing key clients or profitable revenue, and enabled a 

greater focus from the business on client outcomes and experience.  

 

The actions arising from the Strategic Review implemented in the first half of FY2020, 

coupled with the Group’s diverse footprint and lines of business, assisted in mitigating 

the impact of COVID-19 on top line revenue in the second half. In addition, various parts 

of the business pivoted in order to adapt to the new normal, client relationships were 

strengthened through the delivery of more relevant products and services, and 

significant cost management and reduction initiatives were implemented.  

 

The board is pleased to see the continued underlying improvement in the business units’ 

gross revenue margins throughout the second half of the financial year. 

 

Despite the immense period of challenge for the Company, its clients and industry, the 

resilience demonstrated by the Company’s employees and their commitment to continue 

to deliver exceptional client outcomes, along with the strategic initiatives identified and 

directed by the board have ensured the continued success of the Company with an 

underlying business and culture ready to take advantage of the post COVID-19 era. 
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GrowthOps’ priority remains the delivery of excellent service to its clients, whilst 

ensuring the health, wellbeing and safety of its people. 

 

Statutory financial results 

 

GrowthOps generated statutory revenue of $84.4 million (30 June 2019: $97.0 million), 

and a statutory net loss after tax of $43.7 million (30 June 2019: loss $65.0 million) for 

the twelve months ended 30 June 2020.  

 

The statutory net loss after tax includes the non-cash impact of: 

● Share-based payment expenses of $8.44 million;  

● Amortisation of identifiable intangible assets arising from acquisitions of $7.50 

million;  

● Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets of $22.03 million; and 

● Other income of $0.95 million in relation to the Xperior acquisition contingent 

consideration. 

 

A number of significant initiatives, including those outlined below and in the directors’ 

report, were completed during the Financial Period to reinvigorate the Company and 

develop long-term value for its clients, employees, shareholders and other stakeholders. 

 

Underlying results (unaudited) 

 

The board and management utilise underlying management accounts, along with other 

metrics, to regularly review the underlying business performance, which show: 

 

Revenue decreased by $16.3m (16%) year-on-year. A third of this revenue decrease is 

attributable to two clients – Sargon Capital entering Voluntary Administration and Holden 

Motors exiting the Australian market. Events such as the unrest in Hong Kong, the 

Australian drought and bushfires, and more significantly, COVID-19 have affected results 

in the second half, with reductions in client spend and retainers. 

 

With improved discipline around management of costs, in particular, project and 

contractor costs, revenue margins have increased in each of the last three quarters, 

partly compensating for reduced revenues. The revenue decline year-on-year is also 

partly offset by a reduction in associated pass through costs, down $7.5m (26%) on the 

prior year. 

 

The Company is realising the benefit of operating cost savings from the business 

restructure in October and November 2019, and the further cost reduction initiatives 

implemented in February and March 2020, as the implications of the pandemic became 

more prominent. Savings across most expense lines in the second half of the year to 

June 2020, included:  

● Employee costs (variable and fixed) reduced by 11% on the first half, including 

the net savings impact from voluntary salary reductions taken by employees from 

April to June 2020 (net savings are after discretionary pass through of JobKeeper, 

which returned most employees to full pay); 

● Direct cost of sales, including travel, contractors, licencing and technology costs, 

reduced by 30%; and    

● Other costs, including office administration, marketing, IT and professional 

services expenses, reduced by 30% on the first half reflecting the improved 

expense management policies that have been implemented. 

 

Premises costs increased by $0.6m on FY19 reflecting a full twelve months of the lease 

for the new Sydney Campus (FY19: 5 months) and 11 months of additional leased space 
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in the head office at 31 Queen Street Melbourne (FY19: 4 months). In June 2020, the 

Company renewed its Melbourne head office lease with a reduced floorspace, adapted to 

a leaner business structure and is evaluating opportunities to reduce office lease costs in 

its other locations. 

 

Cash Flow, COVID-19 government subsidies and concessions 

 

GrowthOps finished the Financial Period with positive operating cash flow of $2.47m, 

including government COVID-19 subsidies and related concessions in its Australian 

operations of $1.1m and its Asian operations of $0.2m. GrowthOps qualified for the 

Australian Government's JobKeeper subsidy and received its first payment in May 2020. 

In addition to mandatory pass-through of the subsidy to eligible employees, 

discretionary payments were also made in May, June and July 2020 to those employees 

who had taken a voluntary salary reduction, returning most employees to full pay in 

those months.  

  

Additionally, COVID-19 stimulus subsidies were also received by the Company’s 

Singapore and Hong Kong operations. 

 

The Company is currently assessing its eligibility for the Australian Government’s 

recently announced, ‘Job Keeper 2.0’.  

 

Key operational and client achievements 

 

During the Financial Period, the Group achieved many outstanding client outcomes 

detailed in the directors’ report, including: 

● AJF GrowthOps won another two Effie Awards for the ‘EOFYthing’ campaign 

created for Officeworks, and was ranked the most effective independent agency 

in Australia and ranked fourth most effective independent agency in the Asia 

Pacific region on the global Effie index. 

● GrowthOps created various campaigns for the Queensland Government, including 

the Queensland Government’s COVID-19 public health communications campaign 

and the ‘Dear Mind’ campaign to encourage people to improve their mental 

health. 

● The Company attained Gold Tier Partner status with leading digital experience 

software specialist, Sitecore.  

● GrowthOps Asia won several significant technology and platform engagements 

across the banking, finance and insurance sectors as well as being appointed as 

the creative agency for Malaysia's national car brand, Proton.  

● GrowthOps coaching and leadership practice, IECL rapidly transformed its 

operating model in the second half of the Financial Period from face-to-face 

learning to an entirely digital enterprise in response to the impact of COVID-19.  

 

Outlook 

 

Commenting on the outlook, GrowthOps Non-Executive Chairman, Scott Tanner, said: 

“While the outcomes from the Company’s Strategic Review, associated restructuring and 

banking facility extension provided a strong platform for growth, we are anticipating 

reduced levels of revenue throughout the first quarter of FY2021 given the ongoing 

impact of COVID-19 outbreaks on business and consumer confidence.  

 

“We are giving greater prominence to some of the original brands that came together to 

form GrowthOps, such as AJF, Khemistry and IECL in the way that we go to market. We 

have also combined our technology and digital practices to strengthen our offering for 

our clients, better reflecting their needs. Initiatives such as these are key to our FY2021 
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plans, along with streamlining the Company’s central overhead, as well as undertaking a 

review of the capital structure of the business.  

 

“The board believes the Company has emerged from FY2020 as a stronger, more agile 

business that more closely aligns with our clients’ needs, and is better able to deliver on 

our mission to reinvent how our clients grow. 

 

“Finally, we would like to acknowledge the immense period of challenge and change that 

FY2020 presented for our people. They have responded well and have shown resilience, 

flexibility, innovation and commitment, ensuring our clients continued to receive the 

highest standards of service. The board is profoundly grateful for their dedication and 

remains deeply committed to ensuring our people reach their full potential.” 

 

 

28 August 2020 

 

On behalf of the board of directors 

        

Craig McMenamin 

CFO and Company Secretary 

Email: craig.mcmenamin@growthops.com.au 

 

─ ENDS ─  

 

About GrowthOps 

  

GrowthOps (ASX:TGO) is a network of creative thinkers, who create ideas and build 

solutions for organisations aspiring to lead tomorrow’s markets. We help organisations 

unlock more potential from their brand, customer touch points and people.   

  

Operating across Australia and Asia, we give advice, ideate, design, build, train, innovate 

and deliver outcomes that help organisations grow and work better, together. The 

services we offer include: creative, technology, coaching and leadership, and where 

these markets overlap. 

  

Use of Non IFRS Measures 

  

GrowthOps uses certain measures to report on its business that are neither recognised 

under AAS, nor under IFRS. These measures are collectively referred to as non-IFRS 

financial measures. 

 

These non-IFRS financial measures do not have a prescribed definition under AAS or 

IFRS and therefore may not be directly comparable to similarly titled measures 

presented by other entities. 

 

These should not be construed as an indication of, or alternative to, corresponding 

financial measures determined in accordance with AAS or IFRS. 

 

Although GrowthOps believes these non-IFRS measures provide useful information to 

users in measuring the financial performance and condition of the business, investors are 

cautioned not to place undue reliance on any non-IFRS financial measures included in 

this document. 

  

Forward looking statements 

  

mailto:craig.mcmenamin@growthops.com.au
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This announcement contains forward looking statements which are identified by words 

such as ‘may’, ‘could, ‘believes’, ‘estimates’, ‘expects’, ‘intends’ and other similar words 

that involve risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements speak only as of 

the date of this announcement and GrowthOps does not undertake to publicly update or 

revise any forward-looking statement. 

  

Any forward-looking statements are subject to various risks that could cause GrowthOps 

actual results to differ materially from the results expressed or anticipated in these 

statements. Such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future financial 

performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and 

other important factors, many of which are beyond the control of GrowthOps, 

GrowthOps’ directors and management. 

 

GrowthOps cannot and does not give any assurance that the results, performance or 

achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this 

announcement will actually occur and investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance 

on these forward-looking statements. 

  

Investor enquiries: investors@growthops.com.au 

  

Media enquiries: media@growthops.com.au 

mailto:investors@growthops.com.au
mailto:media@growthops.com.au


Trimantium GrowthOps Limited
Appendix 4E
Preliminary final report
 

 

1. Company details
 
Name of entity: Trimantium GrowthOps Limited
ABN: 80 621 067 678
Reporting period: For the year ended 30 June 2020
Previous period: For the year ended 30 June 2019
 

2. Results for announcement to the market
 

$'000

Revenues from ordinary activities down 13.0% to 84,381

Loss from ordinary activities after tax attributable to the owners of 
Trimantium GrowthOps Limited down 32.8% to (43,709)

Loss for the year attributable to the owners of Trimantium GrowthOps 
Limited down 32.8% to (43,709)
 
Dividends
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current financial period.
 
Comments
The loss for the Group after providing for income tax amounted to $43,709,000 (30 June 2019: $65,010,000).
 
Refer to 'Review of operations' in the Directors' report for further commentary on the results of the Group for the year 
ended 30 June 2020.
 

3. Net tangible assets
 

Reporting 
period

Previous 
period

Cents Cents

Net tangible assets per ordinary security (7.29) (3.76)
 
Net tangible assets include right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.
 

4. Control gained over entities
 
Not applicable.
 

5. Loss of control over entities
 
Not applicable.
 

6. Dividends
 
Current period
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current financial period.
 
Previous period
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the previous financial period.
 



Trimantium GrowthOps Limited
Appendix 4E
Preliminary final report

7. Dividend reinvestment plans

Not applicable.

8. Details of associates and joint venture entities

Not applicable.

9. Foreign entities

Details of origin of accounting standards used in compiling the report:

Not applicable.

10. Audit qualification or review

Details of audit/review dispute or qualification (if any):

The financial statements have been audited and an unqualified opinion has been issued.

11. Attachments

Details of attachments (if any):

The Financial Report of Trimantium GrowthOps Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020 is attached.

Date: 28 August 2020

12. Signed

As authorised by the Board of Directors

Signed ___________________________

Scott Tanner
Chairman
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Directors Scott Tanner - Chairman 
Clint Cooper
Philip Dalidakis 
Jessica Hart
Craig Davies
Andrew Baxter

 
Company secretary Craig McMenamin
 
Notice of annual general meeting To be confirmed
 
Registered office Level 11, 31 Queen St

Melbourne
VIC 3000
Australia

 
Principal place of business Level 11, 31 Queen St

Melbourne
VIC 3000
Australia

 
Share register Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited

Yarra Falls, 452 Johnston Street 
Abbotsford
VIC 3067
Australia

 
Auditor Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Grosvenor Place
225 George Street
Sydney, NSW 2000
Australia

 
Stock exchange listing Trimantium GrowthOps Limited shares are listed on the Australian Securities 

Exchange (ASX code: TGO)
 
Website www.growthops.com.au
 
Business objectives In accordance with Listing Rule 4.10.19, the Company confirms that the Group has 

been utilising the cash and assets in a form readily convertible to cash that it held at 
the time of its admission to the Official List of ASX to the end of the reporting period in 
a way that is consistent with its business objectives.

 
Corporate Governance Statement The directors and management are committed to conducting the business of 

Trimantium GrowthOps Limited in an ethical manner and in accordance with the 
highest standards of corporate governance. Trimantium GrowthOps Limited has 
adopted and substantially complied with the ASX Corporate Governance Principles 
and Recommendations (Third Edition) (‘Recommendations’) to the extent appropriate 
to the size and nature of its operations.

The Corporate Governance Statement, which sets out the corporate governance 
practices that were in operation during the financial year and identifies and explains 
any Recommendations that have not been followed, was approved by the Board of 
Directors at the same time as the Financial Report and can be found on the Investor 
Relations page at www.growthops.com.au/investors/corporate-governance/
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as 
the 'Group' or 'GrowthOps') consisting of Trimantium GrowthOps Limited (referred to hereafter as the 'Company' or 'parent 
entity') and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2020 ('Financial Period' or 'FY2020').
 
Directors
The following persons were directors of Trimantium GrowthOps Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the 
date of this report, unless otherwise stated:
 
Scott Tanner - Non-Executive Chairman (appointed on 13 October 2019)
Clint Cooper - Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (appointed on 13 October 2019)
Philip Dalidakis - Non-Executive Director (appointed on 13 October 2019)
Jessica Hart - Non-Executive Director (appointed on 13 October 2019)
Craig Davies - Non-Executive Director (appointed on 13 October 2019 as Executive Director and resigned on 26 June 
2020 and appointed as Non-Executive Director on 26 June 2020)
Andrew Baxter - Non-Executive Director (appointed on 23 July 2020)
 
Dominique Fisher - Non-Executive Chairman (resigned on 13 October 2019)
Phillip Kingston - Non-Executive Director (resigned as Executive Director and appointed as Non-Executive Director on 13 
October 2019 and resigned as Non-Executive Director on 5 February 2020)
Paul Mansfield - Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director (resigned on 13 October 2019)
Melissa Field - Non-executive Director (resigned on 13 October 2019)

Craig McMenamin - Non-Executive Director (appointed on 13 October 2019 and resigned on 12 December 2019 and 
appointed as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
 
Principal activities
The principal activities of the Group during the period were the provision of creative, digital, technology and leadership 
development solutions to organisations seeking to acquire and retain new customers, build and launch transformational 
products, and scale operations. The Group performs the tasks required to create and implement a technology-driven new 
product, service or growth initiative, from start to finish, including: analysis of market opportunities and threats; creative 
advertising, leadership development and coaching; change management; technology and cloud services; software 
development; systems integration; positioning and brand strategy; performance marketing and marketing communications.
 
Dividends
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.
 
Review of operations
Throughout the early part of the 2020 financial year, the Group continued its program of integration work first commenced 
after the Group’s Initial Public Offering, with a key focus on transitioning the Group to a single operating company, 
including an integrated service offering and further consolidation of office locations.
 
Upon appointment in October 2019, the new board and Chief Executive Officer ('CEO') undertook a substantial Strategic 
Review of the entire Group to transform the business and position it for growth. The outcomes achieved from the review 
included:
 
● Restructuring and removal of functions and locations with low utilisation levels or deemed unprofitable;
● Renegotiation or termination of projects deemed to be unprofitable along with new disciplines to improve project 

visibility and profitability;
● Removal of non critical central overhead;
● Restructuring and redeployment of resources, especially overhead and non-billable resources, to better serve clients 

and support colleagues serving clients;
● Redeployment of key resources to growth areas, services and products; and
● Termination of the Group’s share buyback program.
 
These changes were implemented without losing key clients or profitable revenue, and enabled a greater focus from the 
business on client outcomes and experience.
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The period of stabilisation that came after the strategic review, associated restructuring and Westpac Bank loan facility 
extension, provided a platform for growth in the second half of the financial year, more able to withstand the impact of the 
drought and bushfires in Australia, the unrest in Hong Kong, the unavoidable departure of 2 large clients from the market, 
and the emergence of COVID-19 in Asia in early January.
 
As the COVID-19 pandemic spread, its impact was felt across the entire Group through the second half of the financial 
year, particularly in its operations in Australia as a number of clients, in various sectors and geographies, delayed or 
reduced marketing and advertising spend, deferred technology development projects, and were unable to attend coaching 
and leadership sessions in-person, due to social distancing requirements.
 
The actions arising from the Strategic Review and taken by the new Board and CEO, coupled with the Group’s diverse 
lines of business and geographic footprint, assisted in mitigating the impact of COVID-19 on top line revenue in the second 
half. In addition various parts of the business pivoted in order to adapt to the new normal. The board is pleased to see the 
continued underlying improvement in the business units’ gross revenue margins throughout the second half of the financial 
year, a positive trend during one of the most significant and economically catastrophic events in recent history.
 
The resilience demonstrated by the Group’s employees and their commitment to continue to deliver exceptional client 
outcomes, combined with the strategic initiatives identified and directed by the board since their appointment in October 
2019 have ensured the continued success of the Group with an underlying business and culture ready to take advantage 
of the post COVID-19 era.
 
Impact of COVID-19
COVID-19 has impacted the business in all regions as a number of clients have delayed or reduced the scope of projects. 
Consequently, the Group has undertaken significant cost reduction initiatives to mitigate the sharp decline in revenues and 
continues to adapt its products and services for the new environment to remain relevant and to provide exceptional value 
for its clients as the Group helps them adapt to new ways of doing business.
 
The Group has established new ways of working for its employees with a focus on the safety and wellbeing of its teams, 
effective collaboration in remote working conditions, and reliable delivery of solutions for its clients. Further details on 
initiatives to assist clients, support employees, drive revenue, and reduce costs are provided below in this report.
 
The economic uncertainty caused by the ongoing restrictions and relatively unpredictable nature of the pandemic create 
further difficulties in forecasting beyond the near-term of six to twelve months ahead. Accordingly, management has taken 
a view that reflects current and estimated business conditions emerging from COVID-19 in its business plan and budgets 
for the year ahead, and in its assessment of the carrying value of intangibles and assets. Management has provided for 
appropriate impairment of these values at 30 June 2020. The Notes to the Financial Statements contain further details of 
the methodology and assumptions adopted by management in assessing these carrying values.
 
Summary of statutory financial results
GrowthOps generated statutory revenue of $84.4 million (30 June 2019: $97.0 million), and a statutory net loss after tax of 
$43.7 million (30 June 2019: loss $65.0 million) for the twelve months ended 30 June 2020. 
 
The statutory net loss after tax includes the non-cash impact of:
● share-based payment expenses of $8.44 million;
● amortisation of identifiable intangible assets arising from acquisitions of $7.50 million;
● impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets of $22.03 million; and
● Other income of $0.95 million in relation to the Xperior acquisition contingent consideration.
 
Non-cash share based payment expenses reflect the value of benefits settled by share or option issues. These are 
typically Convertible Redeemable Preference Shares (CRPS) issued to the vendors of acquired entities, performance 
rights issued to employees, and options issued to key management personnel. They are subject to certain conditions 
before vesting and conversion to GrowthOps ordinary shares. In the Financial Period, the Group recognised an expense of 
$8.44 million, including $8.26 million of the expected value of CRPS to be converted to ordinary equity. As noted in the 
Group’s prospectus, the non-cash, share-based payment expenses associated with CRPS will continue until 2021.
 
The Group recorded a goodwill and intangible impairment charge of $22.03m for the year, of which $11.3m was charged 
for the six months ended 30 June 2020, reflecting a more conservative outlook in light of the impact of COVID-19 on the 
business.
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The Group recognised other income of $2.81 million, including $1.86 million in government grants and subsidies in its 
Australia and Asia operations and $0.95 million recognised as the contingent consideration component of the acquisition 
price of Xperior, is no longer payable.
 
During the Financial Period, the Group adjusted its disclosure of statutory revenue to more accurately reflect the nature of 
‘pass through’ revenue and expenses (that is, external costs incurred in the delivery of creative and technology services). 
GrowthOps acts as principal for the provision of these services. As such, the pass through transaction is recognised as the 
Group’s revenue. The services associated with the pass through transactions are substantially similar to the remaining 
revenue streams. Therefore in the financial statements for FY2020, pass through revenue is no longer separately disclosed 
and instead, is combined in total “Revenue from contracts with customers”. The comparative figures in previous 
disclosures have been updated to conform with the current Financial Period disclosures. Further details are provided in the 
Notes to the Financial Statements.
 
A number of significant initiatives, including those outlined below, were completed during the Financial Period to 
reinvigorate the Group and develop long-term value for its clients, employees, shareholders and other stakeholders.
 
Renewal of the board, management and Group structure
With effect from 13 October 2019, Independent Non-Executive Chairman Dominique Fisher, Non-Executive Director 
Melissa Field, and Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer Paul Mansfield resigned from their respective roles. 
Restructuring of the board was recommended by the outgoing board to implement the next stage in the Group’s growth 
strategy as the Group transitioned from its foundational year to a focus on growth.
 
The GrowthOps board confirmed the appointments of Scott Tanner as Independent Non-Executive Chairman, Clint Cooper 
as Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, the Honourable Philip Dalidakis as Non-Executive Director, Jessica Hart 
as Non-Executive Director, Craig Davies as Executive Director, and Craig McMenamin as Non-Executive Director. They 
joined GrowthOps Founder and Executive Director, Phillip Kingston on the board with effect from 13 October 2019. The 
board also confirmed that Mr Kingston’s role transitioned to Non-Executive Director with effect from 13 October 2019.
 
Within a month of their appointments, the new board and CEO undertook a review of the Group’s business and enabling 
structure and agreed on the next stage of GrowthOps’ strategy. It reaffirmed the Group’s purpose and re-focussed the 
business on sales and growth. The consequential changes were a natural evolution following the integration work 
undertaken after the Group’s Initial Public Offering and included a restructure to empower each business unit – creative, 
technology and coaching & leadership – to be more accountable for client outcomes and experience. The restructure 
included the removal of roles that did not directly service clients or support colleagues who do, and functions with low 
utilisation levels. These changes were implemented without losing key revenue or clients.
 
Non-Executive Director, Craig McMenamin was appointed as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary, effective 12 
December 2019. He consequently resigned from the board of directors with effect from 12 December 2019 and his role as 
Chair of the board’s Audit and Risk Committee has been filled by Non-Executive Director, the Honourable Philip Dalidakis.
 
Following the successful transition of the new board and management appointed to the Group on 13 October 2019, Non-
Executive Director Phillip Kingston resigned from the Group’s board of directors on 5 February 2020.
 
Executive Director, Craig Davies resigned from his executive role with the Group on 26 June 2020, transitioning to the role 
of Non-Executive Director on the GrowthOps board of directors. This transition followed the appointment and embedding of 
the new board and management, implementation of the new structure, and refinement and stabilisation of the Group’s 
strategy and core offering.
 
Financing facilities and compliance with covenant at 30 June 2020
As announced in the Group’s half year financial results in February 2020, GrowthOps secured an extension of its banking 
facility with Westpac Banking Corporation to 1 July 2021. In April 2020, the financing facility was updated with revised 
financial performance covenants providing increased assurance to the Group through the ongoing support of its bankers. 
The facility limit is $12.84m with the amount drawn on the facility at the end of the Financial Period being $12.72m. At 30 
June 2020, the Group is in compliance with its quarterly covenants under the revised facility.
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Cost and cash management program
Revenues in the second half were impacted by delays in projects and reduced client spend directly attributable to the 
impact of COVID-19. The Group continues to stay close to our clients and find better ways to support them, whilst 
improving cost and cash management activities, including:
● Agreeing temporary voluntary employee salary reductions at all levels within the business without compromising client 

deliverables;
● Exiting two end-of-lease premises in Sydney and renegotiating the Melbourne head office lease, reducing occupancy 

costs for the longer term and releasing cash from associated lease guarantees;
● Proactively implementing remote working policies and practices and supporting staff in adapting to the new normal;
● Reducing travel, office, administrative and technology expenses;
● Improving job costing and management of contractor costs and utilisation rates; and
● Where eligible, participating in COVID-19 government subsidies and concessions across Australia and the Asia 

region.
 
COVID-19 government subsidies and concessions
GrowthOps finished the Financial Period with positive operating cash flow of $2.47m, including government COVID-19 
subsidies and related concessions in its Australian operations of $1.1m and its Asian operations of $0.2m. GrowthOps 
qualified for the Australian Government's JobKeeper subsidy and received its first payment in May 2020. In addition to 
mandatory pass-through of the subsidy to eligible employees, discretionary payments were also made in May, June and 
July 2020 to those employees who had taken a voluntary salary reduction, returning most employees to full pay in those 
months.
 
Additionally, COVID-19 stimulus subsidies were also received by the Group’s Singapore and Hong Kong operations.
 
The Group is currently assessing its eligibility for the recently announced ‘JobKeeper 2.0’.
 
People initiatives
GrowthOps implemented working from home arrangements for all GrowthOps employees and contractors in mid-March, 
2020 to:
● Help reduce the impact of COVID-19;
● Ensure business continuity for its clients; and
● Foster the health, safety and wellbeing of its people.
 
While the Group has now introduced ‘remote first’ working arrangements for all staff, which means remote working 
arrangements will become the Group’s default way of working, a phased 'return to office’ plan was also implemented 
across Australia and Asia in June 2020, in line with government advice and guidelines. All offices have robust plans in 
place to ensure that strict controls are applied in accordance with health, safety and wellbeing guidelines. GrowthOps’ 
priority remains the delivery of excellent service to its clients, whilst ensuring the health, wellbeing and safety of its people.
 
Some of the initiatives the Group has introduced in the second half of the Financial Period to foster the health, safety and 
wellbeing of its people, include:
● A 'mental health day' in addition to employees’ standard annual and sick leave provisions to provide staff with the 

opportunity to take a break from work and focus on their wellbeing, given the extended periods of working from home 
arrangements;

● Virtual team lunches, virtual CEO lunches and virtual celebrations to keep staff connected and to foster open 
communication, collaboration, team spirit and the Group’s culture; and

● Expanded access to the Group’s Employee Assistance Program in recognition of the impact the pandemic is having 
on the mental health of some individuals.

 
Key operational and client achievements
During the past twelve months AJF GrowthOps won another two Effie Awards for the ‘EOFYthing’ campaign created for 
Officeworks. In addition the ‘Nobody does Christmas like...’ campaign for Officeworks was recognised by research and 
insights agency Cubery as the “best branded Christmas ad of 2019”. AJF GrowthOps is currently ranked the most effective 
independent agency in Australia and ranked fourth most effective independent agency in the Asia Pacific region on the 
global Effie index.
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Also in FY2020, the Group: 
● Helped Dare hold the #1 Iced Coffee spot and grow their market share of the Non-Alcoholic-Ready-to-Drink category 

in the past year;
● Assisted Officeworks in achieving double digit increases in sales for FY2020;
● Delivered new campaign positioning for BUPA, "Because life happens";
● Increased sales conversions by more than 30 per cent for Nine West; and
● Launched above the line campaigns for market leaders Remedy Kombucha and Cobs Popcorn, as well as the ‘Better 

Big Bank’ for Bendigo Bank and ‘Life’s what you make it’ for Spotlight.
 
GrowthOps created various campaigns for the Queensland Government during the Financial Period, including the 
Queensland Government’s COVID-19 public health communications campaign, which government research has found is 
affecting positive behaviours and perceptions of Queensland Health. The Group also created the ‘STIcebreakers’ 
campaign to reduce sexually transmissible infection rates and the ‘Dear Mind’ campaign to encourage people to improve 
their mental health, both for Queensland Health, in addition to the ‘Back It Up’ safety campaign for Queensland Fire and 
Emergency to stop people driving through floodwaters.
 
As the first lockdowns came into effect in Australia in late March 2020, GrowthOps launched Australia@Home – the 
country’s only daily research panel measuring what Australians were thinking and feeling during the pandemic, and the 
impact it was having on behaviour. The report was regularly published in the Australian Financial Review, and used by 
leaders in government and business, helping to inform their approach to audiences and markets, including the tone of their 
ongoing messaging and campaigns.
 
Collaboration continues as a core behaviour encouraged across the Group, with collaborations across the Group’s 
technology, digital and creative practices delivering end-to-end brand, website, app and campaign solutions for some 
clients. 
 
Working in collaboration with SETEC, GrowthOps designed and engineered software to provide a better experience for 
owners, manufacturers and installers of Recreational Vehicles (RV). GrowthOps created an intuitive app to allow users to 
easily monitor and control their RV over Bluetooth and an IoT cloud, which RV manufacturers described as a faster, more 
reliable solution to make changes and introduce new vehicle models with ease.
 
The Group also attained Gold Tier Partner status with leading digital experience software specialist, Sitecore during the 
Financial Period.
 
In Asia, GrowthOps was appointed as the technology and platform partner for a south east asian regional bank, a leading 
national arts and culture organisation, a regional insurance company, a global insurance company, and a global Japanese 
bank to achieve a range of outcomes from operational efficiencies and savings to improved customer access and 
experience.
 
During FY2020, GrowthOps was also appointed as the creative agency for Malaysia's national car brand, Proton, building 
on the digital services retainer the Group has held with Proton for three years. It extended other creative and strategy 
engagements, including with a leading Japanese consumer electronics brand, in addition to creative and digital 
engagements, such as search engine optimisation, analytics, paid media and creative asset creation for a leading asian 
bank and multi-brand conglomerate, having achieved year-on-year performance improvements for these clients in 
Australia, New Zealand, Singapore, Indonesia and India.
 
FY2020 has resulted in a year of transformation for the Group’s coaching and leadership practice, IECL. The first half of 
the Financial Period delivered a period of stabilisation as the practice consolidated its business model and established 
structures for growth. The impact of COVID-19 in the second half of the Financial Period resulted in a requirement for the 
practice to rapidly transition its operating model from face-to-face learning to an entirely digital enterprise. Its new, online 
virtual coaching and training offering has largely replaced the revenue lost through cancellation of in-person sessions, and 
has attracted clients from overseas markets in Europe, the Middle East and Japan.
 
IECL’s executive and organisational coaching services saw a spike in demand, increasing by 43 per cent compared with 
the same period last year, with clients including ‘essential service’ providers from the Australian Government Department 
of Health, Australian Border Force, Australian Government Department of Defence and New South Wales Health.
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Since the declaration of the pandemic, IECL has developed two new products to support its clients – Focus Coaching and 
Leading Now. Focus Coaching is a targeted series of coaching sessions, delivered in quick succession, to provide 
intensive and rapid support to leaders to enable them to thrive through times of unprecedented change. To date, more than 
50 senior leaders from one of Australia’s big four banks have completed the program, delivering exceptional results, 
including an improvement in their wellbeing score of more than 20 per cent and a net promoter score for the program of 91.
 
Leading Now is a suite of interactive virtual classroom modules to support leaders to learn, grow and adapt. To date, the 
Group has delivered the series to multiple clients, including 20 sessions for a major APAC financial institution, which has 
since commissioned a suite of advanced modules as a result of the effectiveness and impact of the first modules.
 
Underlying results (unaudited)
The board and management utilise underlying management accounts, along with other metrics, to regularly review the 
business performance. The presentation of these results provides a useful measure of the underlying performance of the 
Group, particularly given the accounting impact of non-cash share-based payment expenses, goodwill impairment, one-off 
costs associated with restructuring the business, government grants and the reversal of contingent consideration for the 
acquisition of Xperior, no longer payable.
 
The underlying results relate to the twelve months ended 30 June 2020, and its prior comparable period (‘PCP’), the twelve 
months ended 30 June 2019. In the PCP, all acquisitions were included in the results as if owned for the full period. In the 
current Financial Period, there were no acquisitions.
 
The Group is eligible for the Australian Government’s JobKeeper subsidy and has secured additional concessions and 
subsidies in other jurisdictions in which it operates, delivering a total of $1.9m between April and June 2020.
 
EBITDAS is a financial measure which is not prescribed by Australian Accounting Standards (‘AAS’) and represents the 
profit under AAS adjusted for interest, non-specific non-cash and significant items. The directors consider EBITDAS to 
reflect the core earnings of the consolidated entity.
 
Underlying EBITDAS for the financial period to June 2020, including lease costs and subsidies, is $1.1m.
 
Summary of underlying Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and share based payments 
(EBITDAS).

1 July 2019 to 
30 June 2020

1 July 2018 to 
30 June 2019

FY19 - FY20 
variance

$ million $ million $ million

Revenue 84.4 100.7 (16.3)
Pass through costs (21.8) (29.3) 7.5
Employee costs (41.1) (42.9) 1.8
Other direct costs of sales (11.7) (11.1) (0.6)
Other costs (6.7) (8.8) 2.1
Underlying EBITDAS 3.1 8.6 (5.5)

Premises lease expense (AASB 16 impact) (3.9) (3.3) (0.6)
Subsidy 1.9 - 1.9

Underlying EBITDAS including subsidy 1.1 5.3 (4.2)
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1 July 2019 to 
30 June 2020

1 July 2018 to 
30 June 2019

FY19 - FY20 
variance

$ million $ million $ million

(45.3) (68.4) 23.1
22.0 22.9 (0.9)
11.7 11.6 0.1

1.0 1.0 -
(10.6) (32.9) 22.3

8.4 30.5 (22.1)
(1.0) - (1.0)
(1.9) - (1.9)

- 11.4 (11.4)
5.7 - 5.7
2.5 - 2.5

- (0.4) 0.4

3.1 8.6 (5.5)
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Reconciliation of EBITDA to Underlying EBITDAS

Statutory loss before income tax
Impairment of intangible assets
Depreciation and amortisation
Net finance costs
EBITDA

Share based payments
Other income
Subsidy received
Costs associated with business acquisition and integration 
Costs associated with business restructuring
Bad debt write off
Pre-acquisition costs

Underlying EBITDAS

Commentary on FY19 vs FY20 underlying EBITDAS
Revenue decreased by $16.3m (16%) year-on-year, impacted by recent events such as the unrest in Hong Kong, the 
Australian drought and bushfires and more significantly, COVID-19 impacting the second half, with reductions in client 
spend and retainers, notably those clients in sectors worst affected by COVID-19. Second half revenue was also impacted 
by the loss of material client Sargon entering Voluntary Administration and Holden Motors exiting the Australian market.

With improved discipline around management of variable, project and contractor costs, revenue margins have increased in 
each of the last three quarters, partly compensating for reduced revenues. The revenue decline year-on-year is also partly 
offset by a reduction in associated pass-through costs, down $7.5m (26%) on the prior year.

The Group is realising the benefit of operating cost savings from the business restructure in October and November 2019, 
and the further cost reduction initiatives implemented in February and March 2020, as the implications of the pandemic 
became more prominent. Savings across most expense lines in the second half of the year to June 2020, included:

● Employee costs (variable and fixed) reduced by 11% on the first half, including the net savings impact from voluntary 
salary reductions taken by employees from April to June 2020 (net savings are after discretionary pass through of 
JobKeeper which returned most employees to full pay);

● Direct cost of sales, including travel, contractors, licencing and technology costs, reduced by 30%; and
● Other costs, including office administration, marketing, IT and professional services expenses, reduced by 24% on the 

first half reflecting the improved expense management policies being implemented.

Premises costs increased by $0.6m on FY19 reflecting a full twelve months of the lease for the new Sydney Campus 
(FY19: 5 months) and 11 months of additional leased space in the head office at 31 Queen Street Melbourne (FY19: 4 
months). In June 2020, the Group renewed its Melbourne head office lease with a reduced floorspace, adapted to a leaner 
business structure and is evaluating opportunities to reduce office lease costs in its other locations.

Significant changes in the state of affairs
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
On 23 July 2020, the Group announced the appointment of Andrew Baxter as a Non-Executive Director on the GrowthOps 
board of directors. A highly regarded company director, business advisor and marketing thought leader, Mr Baxter brings 
more than 25 years’ experience in the marketing and communications industry, including large multi-agency businesses, 
as well as in growth businesses and turnarounds. His deep domain knowledge across creative, production and digital 
marketing services, track record in leading and growing businesses through organic and inorganic means, and the regard 
in which he is held by his former clients, peers and teams will add impetus to re-energising the Group’s strategy, market 
positioning and sales.
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The Group is currently assessing its eligibility for the Australian Government’s recently announced ‘JobKeeper 2.0’ and 
other COVID-19 subsidies and related concessions available in Australia and the Asia region.
 
The Group continues to prosecute its claim for unpaid invoices related to intellectual property developed for Sargon Capital 
Pty Ltd and related entities. An initial mediation was conducted on 19 August 2020 with further mediation to be 
rescheduled in early September 2020. The group is expensing all legal fees as incurred and closely managing its legal 
costs in pursuing its claim.
 
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is ongoing and subsequent to year-end a Stage 4 lockdown was introduced in 
Melbourne, Australia. It is not practical to estimate the potential impact of the pandemic, positive or negative, after the 
reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the Australian Government 
and other jurisdictions, such as maintaining social distancing requirements, mandatory quarantine, travel restrictions and 
any economic stimulus that may be provided.
 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2020 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect 
the Group's operations, the results of those operations, or the Group's state of affairs in future financial years.
 
Likely developments and expected results of operations
The Group anticipates reduced levels of revenue throughout the first quarter of FY2021 due to COVID-19 and has 
budgeted accordingly in its variable and fixed cost base. The benefit of reduced occupancy costs and the recent 
rationalisation of technology spend will further mitigate these lower revenues. The Group continues to implement cash 
preservation and cost management initiatives to maximise available liquidity in light of the uncertainties created by COVID-
19 and wherever eligible, will continue to participate in COVID-19 subsidies and related concessions in Australia and the 
Asia region.
 
While steering the Group through the current economic environment, management and the board continue to foster 
opportunities to pivot the business and emerge from the pandemic as a stronger, more agile business, technologically 
ahead of the curve and with an unchanged mission to reinvent how its clients grow.
 
Environmental regulation
The Group is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State law.
 
Information on directors
Name: Scott Tanner
Title: Non-Executive Chairman
Qualifications: Mr Tanner holds an MBA from Melbourne Business School and is a Fellow of the 

Australian Institute of Company Directors
Experience and expertise: Mr Tanner is the current Chairman of the Committee for Melbourne and a Director of 

the Melbourne Business School. Previously, he was a Trustee of Melbourne and 
Olympic Parks Trust and a Director of Tennis Australia. Mr Tanner is Managing 
Director of SMT Advisory Services, a Corporate Advisory business, which he founded 
in 2018. In this capacity, he advised a number of companies and is the Chairman of 
the advisory boards of non-bank lender PropertyShares, parking solutions UbiPark, 
point-of-sale solutions provider IMPOS, and Asia Pacific Capital Limited.

Other current directorships: None
Former directorships (last 3 years): None
Special responsibilities: Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
Interests in shares: 117,500 Ordinary Shares purchased on market
Interests in options: Subject to approval of the Company’s shareholders, the Company has agreed to 

grant 300,000 options to Mr Tanner, on each anniversary of his appointment, to 
acquire a like number of ordinary shares in the Company.

The options vest one-third each year over a three-year period, have an exercise price 
of $0.20 and can only be exercised if the 30-Day Volume Weighted Average Price 
('VWAP') of the company’s shares exceeds $0.30 on the date of exercise.

Interests in rights: None
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Name: Clint Cooper
Title: Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Qualifications: Mr Cooper holds a Bachelor of Business (Accounting) from RMIT University and is a 

member of the Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand.
Experience and expertise: Mr Cooper was the founding Chief Executive Officer and a Director of the Twenty20 

Big Bash League club, Melbourne Stars, establishing and building one of Cricket 
Australia's most commercially successful franchise teams. Prior to this, he held the 
roles of Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer with Cricket Victoria. A 
chartered accountant by training, Mr Cooper specialised in assurance, advisory and 
corporate recovery for more than eight years at KPMG. He is a former Board Director 
at the Coeliac Society of Victoria Ltd. Mr Cooper was also previously a founding 
member of the Male Champions for Change, Sport.

Other current directorships: None
Former directorships (last 3 years): None
Special responsibilities: None
Interests in shares: None
Interests in options: Subject to approval of the Company’s shareholders, the Company has agreed to 

grant 1,000,000 options to Mr Cooper, on each anniversary of his appointment, to 
acquire a like number of ordinary shares in the Company.

The options vest one-third each year over a three-year period, have an exercise price 
of $0.20 and can only be exercised if the 30-Day VWAP of the company’s shares 
exceeds $0.50 on the date of exercise.

Interests in rights: None
 
Name: Philip Dalidakis
Title: Non-Executive Director
Qualifications: The Honourable Mr Dalidakis holds a Master of Commerce from UNSW as well as a 

double degree in Arts (Politics and Thai language) and Business (Management) from 
Monash University. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Managers and Leaders and a 
member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Experience and expertise: Mr Dalidakis was a member of the Victorian Parliament from 2014 to 2019. He served 
as a Minister of Trade and Investment, Innovation, the Digital Economy and Small 
Business from 2015 to 2018. During this time, he implemented a strategic vision for 
Victoria as a technology and innovation hub, and worked extensively to strengthen 
Victoria's reputation as a leading startup destination across the Asia Pacific region, 
attracting the Australian offices of global startups and technology companies such as 
Slack, Square, Stripe, Zendesk, Etsy, Eventbrite, GoPro and Uber in Melbourne. He 
also implemented a cybersecurity strategy that led to the creation of the Oceania 
Cyber Security Centre, the attraction of NBN Co's national cybersecurity centre to 
Melbourne, the establishment of Data61's national cyber research unit, and 
memoranda of understanding in the USA and Israel. Before being elected to the 
Victorian Parliament, Mr Dalidakis worked in various roles in the public and private 
sectors, including Deloitte and ASX-listed Centro Properties Group. He was Executive 
General Manager, Corporate Service at Australia Post from July 2019 to April 2020. 
Mr Dalidakis is a Director of the Centre for Asia Pacific Strategy and a Non-Executive 
Director at Impact for Women, a volunteer-run charity making a difference to women 
and children fleeing extreme violence at home.

Other current directorships: None
Former directorships (last 3 years): None
Special responsibilities: Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee
Interests in shares: None
Interests in options: Subject to approval of the Company’s shareholders, the Company has agreed to 

grant 80,000 options to Mr Dalidakis, on each anniversary of his appointment, to 
acquire a like number of ordinary shares in the Company.

The options vest one-third each year over a three-year period, have an exercise price 
of $0.20 and can only be exercised if the 30-Day VWAP of the company’s shares 
exceeds $0.30 on the date of exercise.

Interests in rights: None
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Name: Jessica Hart
Title: Non-Executive Director
Experience and expertise: Ms Hart is the founder and creator of LUMA Beauty, an Australian natural beauty 

brand. In addition to the products being sold at Priceline stores across Australia, 
LUMA Beauty is also available through the company's e-commerce platform, which 
was co-designed by Ms Hart. She was previously named GQ's Woman of the Year, 
and is a brand ambassador for some of the world's largest brands, including 
Mercedes Benz and Qantas. Her international modelling and fashion career spans 
more than 20 years and includes working with Victoria's Secret, Louis Vuitton, Dolce 
& Gabbana, Marc Jacobs and H&M.

Other current directorships: None
Former directorships (last 3 years): None
Special responsibilities: None
Interests in shares: None
Interests in options: Subject to approval of the Company’s shareholders, the Company has agreed to 

grant 30,000 options to Ms Hart, on each anniversary of her appointment, to acquire a 
like number of ordinary shares in the Company.

The options vest one-third each year over a three-year period, have an exercise price 
of $0.20 and can only be exercised if the 30-Day VWAP of the company’s shares 
exceeds $0.30 on the date of exercise.

Interests in rights: None
 
Name: Craig Davies
Title: Non-Executive Director*
Qualifications: Mr Davies is a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
Experience and expertise: Mr Davies is an executive with over 25 years' experience in technology and 

cybersecurity. Previously, he was Chief Executive Officer at the Australian 
Government's cybersecurity industry growth centre, AustCyber, the Head of Security 
at Atlassian (NASDAQ:TEAM), and the Chief Security Officer at Cochlear Ltd 
(ASX:COH), and held various technology roles with Westpac. He is a Non-Executive 
Director of RightCrowd Ltd (ASX:RCW), as well as Chairman of their Audit and Risk 
Committee. Most recently in 2018, Mr Davies launched cybersecurity startup, 
TriSecOps, with the aim of creating and deploying cybersecurity products that reduce 
risk and uncover opportunities for growth. In addition to founding TriSecOps, Mr 
Davies has played an active role in Australia's startup ecosystem, including acting as 
an adviser to Bugcrowd and Deckee.

Other current directorships: Non-Executive Director and Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee of RightCrowd Ltd 
(ASX:RCW)

Former directorships (last 3 years): None
Special responsibilities: None
Interests in shares: 198,800 fully paid ordinary shares purchased on market
Interests in options: Subject to approval of the Company’s shareholders, the Company has agreed to 

grant 80,000 options to Mr Davies, on each anniversary of his appointment, to acquire 
a like number of ordinary shares in the Company.

The options vest one-third each year over a three-year period, have an exercise price 
of $0.10 and can only be exercised if the 30-Day VWAP of the company’s shares 
exceeds $0.15 on the date of exercise.

Interests in rights: None
 
* On 26 June 2020 Mr Davies resigned from his role as an Executive Director - Technology and Cyber Security, and 

commenced as Non-Executive Director on the GrowthOps Board.
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Name: Andrew Baxter
Title: Non-Executive Director
Qualifications: Mr Baxter holds a Bachelor of Business (Marketing) from Monash University. He is a 

Fellow of the Australian Marketing Institute and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

Experience and expertise: Mr Baxter has over 25 years’ experience in the marketing and communications 
industry, including large multi-agency organisations, as well as in growth and 
turnaround businesses. Prior executive roles include CEO of Ogilvy Australia and 
CEO of Publicis Worldwide Australia. Mr Baxter holds numerous Non Executive and 
advisory roles including Chair, Australian Pork Limited; Nominated Chair and Non-
Executive Director (Tjapukai), Indigenous Business Australia; Chair, Commtract; Non-
Executive Director Foresters Financial; Senior advisor, BGH Capital, Non-Executive 
Director, OzHarvest.

Mr Baxter was previously a Senior Advisor at KPMG Australia and is currently Adjunct  
Professor at the University of Sydney Business School.

Other current directorships: None
Former directorships (last 3 years): None
Special responsibilities: None
Interests in shares: None
Interests in options: Subject to approval of the Company’s shareholders, the Company has agreed to 

grant 80,000 options to Mr Baxter, on each anniversary of his appointment, to acquire 
a like number of ordinary shares in the Company.

The options vest one-third each year over a three-year period, have an exercise price 
of $0.10 and can only be exercised if the 30-Day VWAP of the company’s shares 
exceeds $0.15 on the date of exercise.

Interests in rights: None
 
'Other current directorships' quoted above are current directorships for listed entities only and excludes directorships of all 
other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.
 
'Former directorships (last 3 years)' quoted above are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed entities only and 
excludes directorships of all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.
 
Company secretary
Craig McMenamin is Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Company. Craig is a chartered accountant with 
more than 20 years' experience as a Chief Financial Officer and executive in both privately-owned and ASX-listed 
technology, healthcare, advertising, media, entertainment and service companies. He has overseen strategic 
transformation, change management, mergers and acquisitions, recapitalisations, audit, governance and risk management. 
Most recently, Craig lent his financial experience to the founding team at TriSecOps, working alongside Mr Craig Davies as 
the cybersecurity consultancy's Chief Financial Officer. Craig is a member of Chartered Accountants, Australia and New 
Zealand and a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
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Meetings of directors
The number of meetings of the Company's Board of Directors ('the Board') and of each Board committee held during the 
year ended 30 June 2020, and the number of meetings attended by each director were:
 

Full Board
Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee Audit and Risk Committee
Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held

Scott Tanner 9 9 1 1 - -
Clint Cooper 9 9 1 1 - -
Philip Dalidakis 9 9 - - 2 2
Jessica Hart 8 9 1 1 - -
Craig Davies 9 9 - - - -
Craig McMenamin 4 9 - - - -
Dominique Fisher 5 5 - - 3 3
Phillip Kingston 9 10 1 1 3 3
Paul Mansfield 5 5 - - 3 3
Melissa Field 5 5 - - 3 3
 
Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the relevant 
committee.
 
Remuneration report (audited)
The remuneration report details the key management personnel remuneration arrangements for the Group, in accordance 
with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations.
 
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including all directors.
 
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:
● Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
● Details of remuneration
● Service agreements
● Share-based compensation
● Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel
 
Impact of COVID-19 on Remuneration Policies
The Board, through the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, continues to assess the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic on both group performance and the ability to proactively adapt its remuneration policies in order to remain 
relevant and appropriate in the changing economic environment.
 
Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
The objective of the Group's executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and 
appropriate for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with the achievement of strategic objectives 
and the creation of value for shareholders. The Board of Directors ('the Board') ensures that executive reward satisfies the 
following key criteria for good reward governance practices:
● competitiveness and reasonableness;
● acceptability to shareholders;
● performance linkage / alignment of executive compensation; and
● transparency.
 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements 
for its directors, executives and leadership team. The performance of the Group depends on the quality of its directors and 
executives. The remuneration philosophy is to attract, motivate and retain high performance and high quality personnel.
 
During the previous financial year to June 2019, the Board, working through the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
engaged Guerdon Associates as an external remuneration consultant to advise on the structuring of an executive 
remuneration framework that is market competitive and complementary to the reward strategy of the Group.
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The reward framework is designed to align executive reward to shareholders' interests. The objective of the reward 
framework is one that is designed for:
● having economic profit and revenue as a core component of plan design;
● focusing on sustained growth in shareholder wealth and focusing the executive on key non-financial drivers of value; 

and
● attracting and retaining high calibre executives and leaders.
 
Additionally, the reward framework should seek to enhance executives' interests by:
● rewarding capability and experience;
● reflecting competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth;
● providing a clear structure for earning rewards; and
● providing opportunities to executives to participate as shareholders over time and directly benefit from potential 

growth in shareholder wealth through that participation.
 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and executive director 
remuneration is separate.
 
Non-executive directors' remuneration
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands and responsibilities of their role. Non-executive 
directors' fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee may, from time to time, receive advice from independent remuneration consultants to ensure 
non-executive directors' fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market. The chairman's fees are 
determined independently to the fees of other non-executive directors based on comparative roles in the external market. 
The chairman is not present at any discussions relating to the determination of his own remuneration.
 
ASX listing rules require the aggregate non-executive directors' remuneration be determined periodically by a general 
meeting. The total amount paid to all non-executive directors must not exceed in aggregate in any financial year the 
amount fixed by GrowthOps in a general meeting. This amount, being the fee pool limit, has been increased by 
shareholder resolution at the AGM in November 2019, from $200,000 to $450,000 per financial year.
 
These fees will be reviewed on an annual basis and any increases must be within the overall fee pool limit, unless this limit 
is increased with shareholder approval.
 
Executive remuneration
The Group aims to reward executives based on their position and responsibility, with a level and mix of remuneration which 
has both fixed and variable components.
 
The executive remuneration and reward framework has four components:
● base pay and non-monetary benefits;
● short-term performance incentives;
● share-based payments; and
● other remuneration such as superannuation and long service leave.
 
The combination of these comprises the executive's total remuneration.
 
Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, superannuation and non-monetary benefits, are reviewed annually by the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee based on individual and business unit performance, the overall performance of 
the Group and comparable market remunerations.
 
Executives may receive their fixed remuneration in the form of cash or other fringe benefits (for example motor vehicle 
benefits) where it does not create any additional costs to the Group and provides additional value to the executive.
 
The short-term incentives ('STI') program is designed to align the targets of the business units with the performance 
hurdles of executives. STI payments are granted to executives based on specific annual targets and key performance 
indicators ('KPI's') being achieved. KPI's include profit contribution, revenue, customer satisfaction, leadership contribution 
and product management.
 
The long-term incentives ('LTI') include long service leave and share-based payments. Shares may be awarded to 
executives based on long-term incentive measures. These include increase in shareholders' value relative to the entire 
market and the increase compared to the Group's direct competitors.
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Group performance and link to remuneration
Remuneration for certain individuals is directly linked to the performance of the Group. All cash bonus and incentive 
payments are at the discretion of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.
 
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee is of the opinion that the adoption of performance based compensation will 
lead to profitable growth and increase shareholder wealth if maintained over the coming years.
 
Use of remuneration consultants
During July 2019, the Group completed the engagement with Guerdon Associates, remuneration consultants, to review its 
existing remuneration policies and provide recommendations on how to improve both the STI and LTI programs. The initial 
engagement and review in FY2019 resulted in share-based payments remuneration in the form of options (LTI) being 
implemented. Guerdon Associates was paid $20,925 for these services provided in July 2019.
 
During the initial engagement an agreed set of protocols were put in place to ensure that the remuneration 
recommendations would be free from undue influence from key management personnel. These protocols included 
requiring that the consultant not communicate with affected key management personnel without a member of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee being present, and that the consultant not provide any information relating to the 
outcome of the engagement with the affected key management personnel. The Board was also required to make inquiries 
of the consultant's processes at the conclusion of the engagement to ensure that they are satisfied that any 
recommendations made have been free from undue influence.
 
Voting and comments made at the Company's 2019 Annual General Meeting ('AGM')
At the 2019 AGM, 99.7% of the votes received supported the adoption of the remuneration report for the period ended 30 
June 2019. The Company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM regarding its remuneration practices.
 
Details of remuneration

Amounts of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of the Group are set out in the following tables.
 
The key management personnel of the Group consisted of the following directors of Trimantium GrowthOps Limited:
● Scott Tanner - Non-Executive Chairman (appointed on 13 October 2019)
● Clint Cooper - Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer (appointed on 13 October 2019)
● Philip Dalidakis - Non-Executive Director (appointed on 13 October 2019)
● Jessica Hart - Non-Executive Director (appointed on 13 October 2019)
● Craig Davies - Non-Executive Director (appointed on 13 October 2019 as Executive Director and resigned on 26 June 

2020 and appointed as Non-Executive Director on 26 June 2020)
● Dominique Fisher - Non-Executive Chairman (resigned on 13 October 2019)
● Phillip Kingston - Non-Executive Director (resigned as Executive Director and appointed as Non-Executive Director on 

13 October 2019 and resigned as Non-Executive Director on 5 February 2020)
● Paul Mansfield - Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director (resigned on 13 October 2019)
● Melissa Field - Non-executive Director (resigned on 13 October 2019)
 
And the following persons:
● Craig McMenamin - Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary (appointed as Non-Executive Director on 13 

October 2019 and resigned on 12 December 2019 and appointed as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary)
● Dustine Pang - Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary (resigned on 12 December 2019)
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Short-term benefits

Post-
employment 

benefits
Long-term 
benefits

Share-
based 

payments
      

Cash salary Cash Non- Super-
Long 

service Equity-
and fees bonus monetary annuation leave settled Total

2020 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive Directors:
Scott Tanner 130,645 - - - - 11,287 141,932
Philip Dalidakis 75,225 - - - - 3,010 78,235
Jessica Hart 32,377 - - 3,112 - 1,129 36,618
Dominique Fisher 34,615 - - 3,288 - - 37,903
Melissa Field 23,077 - - 2,192 - - 25,269

Executive Directors:
Clint Cooper 295,576 - - 15,752 - 9,403 320,731
Craig Davies* 178,750 - - 15,751 - 3,761 198,262
Phillip Kingston 10,000 - - 950 - - 10,950
Paul Mansfield 196,994 150,000 - 11,376 - - 358,370

Other Key Management 
Personnel:
Craig McMenamin 166,479 - - 12,765 - 1,410 180,654
Dustine Pang 266,371 85,000 - 11,933 - - 363,304

1,410,109 235,000 - 77,119 - 30,000 1,752,228
 
* On 26 June 2020 Mr. Davies resigned from his role as an Executive Director and commenced as Non-Executive 

Director.
 
All amounts included in the table above represents remuneration from the date of appointment and/or up to the date of 
resignation.
 

Short-term benefits

Post-
employment 

benefits
Long-term 
benefits

Share-
based 

payments
      

Cash salary Cash Non- Super-
Long 

service Equity-
and fees bonus monetary annuation leave settled Total

2019 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-Executive Directors:
Dominique Fisher 78,265 - - 7,435 - - 85,700
Melissa Field 53,699 - - 5,101 - - 58,800

Executive Directors:
Phillip Kingston 15,000 - - 1,425 - - 16,425
Paul Mansfield 329,469 75,000 - 20,531 - - 425,000

Other Key Management 
Personnel:
Dustine Pang 299,469 85,000 - 20,531 - - 405,000

775,902 160,000 - 55,023 - - 990,925
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The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows:
 

Fixed remuneration At risk - STI At risk - LTI
Name 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Non-Executive Directors:
Scott Tanner 92% - - - 8% -
Philip Dalidakis 96% - - - 4% -
Jessica Hart 97% - - - 3% -
Dominique Fisher 100% 100% - - - -
Melissa Field 100% 100% - - - -

Executive Directors:
Clint Cooper 97% - - - 3% -
Craig Davies 98% - - - 2% -
Paul Mansfield 58% 82% 42% 18% - -
Phillip Kingston 100% 100% - - - -

Other Key Management 
Personnel:
Craig McMenamin 99% - - - 1% -
Dustine Pang 77% 79% 23% 21% - -
 
The proportion of the cash bonus paid/payable is as follows:
 

Cash bonus paid/payable Cash bonus forfeited
Name 2020 2019 2020 2019

Executive Directors:
Paul Mansfield 100% 100% - -

Other Key Management Personnel:
Dustine Pang 100% 100% - -
 
Service agreements
Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service agreements. 
Details of these agreements are as follows:
 
Name: Clint Cooper
Title: Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer
Agreement commenced: 14 October 2019
Term of agreement: 3 years
Details: Base salary of $450,000 plus superannuation and 3 month notice period. Annual 

grant of 1,000,000 options linked to objectives agreed with the Company.
 
Name: Craig McMenamin
Title: Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
Agreement commenced: 16 December 2019
Term of agreement: 1 year
Details: Base salary of $300,000 plus superannuation and 3 month notice period. Annual 

grant of 150,000 options linked to objectives agreed with the Company.
 
Key management personnel have no entitlement to termination payments in the event of removal for misconduct.
 
Share-based compensation

Issue of shares
There were no shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the year 
ended 30 June 2020.
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Options
The terms and conditions of each grant of options over ordinary shares affecting remuneration of directors and other key 
management personnel in this financial year or future reporting years are as follows:
 

Number of Fair value
options Vesting date and per option

Name granted Grant date exercisable date Expiry date Exercise price at grant date

Scott Tanner 100,000 13 October 2019 13 October 2020 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.070 
100,000 13 October 2019 13 October 2021 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.070 
100,000 13 October 2019 13 October 2022 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.070 

Clint Cooper 333,334 13 October 2019 13 October 2020 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.020 
 333,333 13 October 2019 13 October 2021 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.020 

333,333 13 October 2019 13 October 2022 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.020 

Philip Dalidakis 26,667 13 October 2019 13 October 2020 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.070 
26,667 13 October 2019 13 October 2021 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.070 
26,666 13 October 2019 13 October 2022 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.070 

Jessica Hart 10,000 13 October 2019 13 October 2020 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.070 
10,000 13 October 2019 13 October 2021 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.070 
10,000 13 October 2019 13 October 2022 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.070 

Craig McMenamin 50,000 13 October 2019 13 October 2020 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.020 
50,000 13 October 2019 13 October 2021 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.020 
50,000 13 October 2019 13 October 2022 13 October 2029 $0.20 $0.020 

Craig Davies 26,667 26 June 2020 26 June 2021 26 June 2030 $0.10 $0.010 
26,667 26 June 2020 26 June 2022 26 June 2030 $0.10 $0.010 
26,666 26 June 2020 26 June 2023 26 June 2030 $0.10 $0.010 

Andrew Baxter 26,667 23 July 2020 23 July 2021 23 July 2030 $0.10 $0.010 
26,667 23 July 2020 23 July 2022 23 July 2030 $0.10 $0.010 
26,666 23 July 2020 23 July 2023 23 July 2030 $0.10 $0.010 

 
Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights.
 
There were no options over ordinary shares vested by directors and other key management personnel as part of 
compensation during the year ended 30 June 2020.
 
Performance rights
There were no performance rights over ordinary shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of 
compensation that were outstanding as at 30 June 2020.
 
There were no performance rights over ordinary shares granted to or vested by directors and other key management 
personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 30 June 2020.
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Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel

Shareholding
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial period by each director (directly held, controlled by and/or 
beneficially held) and other members of key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, 
is set out below:
 

Balance at Received Balance at 
the start of as part of Disposals/ the end of 
the year remuneration Additions other* the year

Ordinary shares
Dominique Fisher 495,380 - - (495,380) -
Melissa Field 247,690 - - (247,690) -
Phillip Kingston 27,586,301 - - (27,586,301) -
Paul Mansfield 18,238,450 - - (18,238,450) -
Dustine Pang 114,000 - - (114,000) -
Scott Tanner - - 117,500 - 117,500
Craig Davies - - 198,800 - 198,800

46,681,821 - 316,300 (46,681,821) 316,300
 
* Other/disposals represents no longer being designated as a KMP, not necessarily a disposal of holding.
 
The number of convertible redeemable preference shares in the Company held during the financial period by each director 
and other members of key management personnel of the Company, including their personally related parties, is set out 
below: 
 

Balance at Received Balance at
the start of as part of Disposals/ the end of
the period remuneration Additions other* the period

Convertible redeemable preference shares
Phillip Kingston 154,500 - - (154,500) -
 
* Other represents no longer being designated as a KMP, not necessarily a disposal of holding.
 
Option holding
The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other 
members of key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below:
 

Balance at Expired/ Balance at 
the start of forfeited/ the end of 
the year Granted Exercised other the year

Options over ordinary shares
Scott Tanner - 300,000 - - 300,000
Clint Cooper - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Philip Dalidakis - 80,000 - - 80,000
Jessica Hart - 30,000 - - 30,000
Craig Davies - 480,000 - (400,000) 80,000
Craig McMenamin - 150,000 - - 150,000

- 2,040,000 - (400,000) 1,640,000
 
Other transactions with key management personnel and their related parties
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group earned from provision of services on an arms-length commercial basis 
$2,006,923 (2019: $4,580,920) from Sargon Capital Pty Ltd and its controlled entities (*). The amount receivable at 30 
June 2020 is $nil (2019: $1,193,007).
 
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group earned interest income of $20,436 (2019: $163,459) from short-term fully 
realised investments of $3,200,000 during the period 3 July 2019 to 13 August 2019 (2019: $6,000,000 and $3,500,000) on 
an arms-length commercial basis (interest rate of 5.55% p.a. (2019: 5.55% p.a.)) from Certitude Financial Pty Ltd, an entity 
controlled by Sargon Capital Pty Ltd. The amount invested at 30 June 2020 was $nil (2019: $nil).
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During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group earned from provision of services on an arms-length commercial basis, 
$nil (2019: $174,704) from Trimantium Insurance Partners Pty Ltd (*). The amount receivable at 30 June 2020 was $nil 
(2019: $192,174).
 
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group paid for services provided on an arms-length commercial basis, of $nil 
(2019: $100,000) to Paddl Co. Pty Ltd, a company controlled by Dominique Fisher. There were no amounts outstanding at 
30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019.
 
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group paid rental expenses of $12,985 (2019: $155,705) to The Hong Kong 
Trust Company Limited, a company controlled by Sargon Capital Pty Ltd. The amount payable at 30 June 2020 was 
$1,545 (2019: $nil).
 
During the year ended 30 June 2020, remuneration of $nil (2019: $30,852) was paid to a close family member of a key 
management personnel for services rendered.
 
(*) Phillip Kingston is a founder, a shareholder and executive director of Sargon Capital Pty Ltd. Trimantium Insurance 

Partners Pty Ltd, is an entity controlled by Phillip Kingston. Phillip Kingston resigned as Non-Executive Director on 5 
February 2020.

 
This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited.
 
Shares under option
Unissued ordinary shares of Trimantium GrowthOps Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:
 

Exercise Number 
Grant date Expiry date price under option

13 October 2019 13 October 2029 $0.20 1,560,000
26 June 2020 26 June 2030 $0.10 80,000
23 July 2020 23 July 2030 $0.10 80,000

1,720,000
 
No person entitled to exercise the options had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue of 
the Company or of any other body corporate.
 
There were 47,780,200 convertible redeemable preference ('CRPS') shares issued to the vendors of the acquired 
companies during the period ended 30 June 2018. There were 11,444,050 CRPS outstanding at 30 June 2020 (2019: 
23,788,100). Refer to note 41 for further information.
 
Shares under performance rights
Unissued ordinary shares of Trimantium GrowthOps Limited under performance rights at the date of this report are as 
follows:
 

Exercise Number 
Grant date Expiry date price under rights

28/03/2019 16/03/2021 $0.00 1,225,000
 
No person entitled to exercise the performance rights had or has any right by virtue of the performance right to participate 
in any share issue of the Company or of any other body corporate.
 
Refer to note 41 for further details.
 
Shares issued on the exercise of options
There were no ordinary shares of Trimantium GrowthOps Limited issued on the exercise of options during the year ended 
30 June 2020 and up to the date of this report.
 
There were 12,987,676 ordinary shares issued on 17 March 2020 upon conversion of 11,894,050 CRPS.
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Shares issued on the exercise of performance rights
There were 25,000 ordinary shares issued on 16 September 2019 upon conversion of 25,000 performance rights.
 
Indemnity and insurance of officers
The Company has indemnified the directors and executives of the Company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a 
director or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith.
 
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and executives of 
the Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits 
disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.
 
Indemnity and insurance of auditor
The Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor.
 
During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity.
 
Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.
 
Non-audit services
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the financial year by the auditor 
are outlined in note 33 to the financial statements.
 
The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by another 
person or firm on the auditor's behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by 
the Corporations Act 2001.
 
The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements do not compromise the 
external auditor's independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:
● all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity 

of the auditor; and
● none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 Code 

of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) issued by the Accounting Professional 
and Ethical Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the auditor's own work, acting in a management or 
decision-making capacity for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks and 
rewards.

 
Officers of the Company who are former partners of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
There are no officers of the Company who are former partners of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.
 
Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to 'rounding-off'. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Corporations Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.
 
Auditor's independence declaration
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
immediately after this directors' report.
 
Auditor
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.
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This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 
2001.

On behalf of the directors

___________________________
Scott Tanner
Chairman

28 August 2020



 
 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte Network.    

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 
Sydney, NSW, 2000 
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The Board of Directors 
Trimantium GrowthOps Group Limited 
Level 11, 31 Queen Street 
Melbourne VIC 3000 

 

28 August 2020 

 

Dear Board Members, 

Trimantium GrowthOps Limited 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following 
declaration of independence to the Directors of Trimantium GrowthOps Limited. 

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial report of Trimantium GrowthOps Limited for the year 
ended 30 June 2020, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 

• the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit  

• any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

 

Carlo Pasqualini  
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
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Consolidated
Note 2020 2019

$'000 $'000

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes
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Revenue
Rendering of services 5 84,381 97,044 
 
Other income 6 2,805 179 
Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method 36 270 
 
Expenses
Media pass through expense (21,766) (28,041)
Freelance, contractors, consumables and associated costs (9,676) (10,276)
Employee benefits 7 (44,929) (50,546)
Share-based payments 7 (8,435) (30,460)
Occupancy (838) (892)
Depreciation and amortisation 7 (11,679) (11,564)
Impairment of assets 7 (22,032) (22,860)
Professional and consultancy (1,805) (1,518)
Travel and entertainment (1,244) (2,074)
IT expenses (2,977) (1,786)
Marketing and advertising (409) (771)
Administration expenses (2,192) (3,034)
Acquisition expenses -  (418)
Other expenses (3,439) (399)
Finance costs 7 (1,080) (1,271)
 
Loss before income tax (45,279) (68,417)
 
Income tax 9 1,570 3,407 
 
Loss after income tax for the year attributable to the owners of Trimantium 
GrowthOps Limited (43,709) (65,010)
 
Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation (55) (75)
 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (55) (75)
 
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of 
Trimantium GrowthOps Limited (43,764) (65,085)
 

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share 40 (30.63) (55.21)
Diluted earnings per share 40 (30.63) (55.21)
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Consolidated
Note 2020 2019

$'000 $'000

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 10 6,110 7,924 
Trade and other receivables 11 8,697 16,603 
Contract assets 12 1,901 2,003 
Income tax refund due 9 -  805 
Other assets 13 994 1,560 
Total current assets 17,702 28,895 

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 14 1,606 2,265 
Intangibles 15 25,356 54,842 
Right-of-use assets 16 8,262 12,041 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 17 458 458 
Deferred tax 9 2,178 180 
Other 18 260 196 
Total non-current assets 38,120 69,982 

Total assets 55,822 98,877 
 
Liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 11,742 10,770 
Contract liabilities 20 4,837 8,107 
Borrowings 21 1,000 3 
Lease liabilities 22 2,632 3,387 
Income tax 9 106 -  
Provisions 23 2,630 2,975 
Total current liabilities 22,947 25,242 

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 24 11,718 12,696 
Lease liabilities 25 6,208 9,592 
Provisions 26 663 776 
Contingent consideration -  950 
Total non-current liabilities 18,589 24,014 

Total liabilities 41,536 49,256 
 
Net assets 14,286 49,621 
 
Equity
Issued capital 27 88,301 88,307 
Reserves 28 48,709 40,329 
Accumulated losses (122,724) (79,015)

Total equity 14,286 49,621 
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Issued Accumulated
capital Reserves losses Total equity

Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2018 67,399 9,944 (14,005) 63,338

Loss after income tax for the year - - (65,010) (65,010)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - (75) - (75)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (75) (65,010) (65,085)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Shares issued on business acquisition, net of transaction 
costs (note 27) 20,974 - - 20,974
Share buy back (note 27) (66) - - (66)
Share-based payments (note 41) - 30,460 - 30,460

Balance at 30 June 2019 88,307 40,329 (79,015) 49,621
 

Issued Accumulated
capital Reserves losses Total equity

Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2019 88,307 40,329 (79,015) 49,621

Loss after income tax for the year - - (43,709) (43,709)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - (55) - (55)

Total comprehensive income for the year - (55) (43,709) (43,764)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Share-based payments (note 41) - 8,435 - 8,435
Transaction costs (6) - - (6)

Balance at 30 June 2020 88,301 48,709 (122,724) 14,286
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Consolidated
Note 2020 2019

$'000 $'000

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 92,185 114,177 
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) (91,591) (113,215)

594 962 
Interest received 36 270 
Grants and subsidies 1,333 -  
Other revenue -  179 
Income taxes refunded/(paid) 484 (2,379)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 39 2,447 (968)
 
Cash flows from investing activities
Settlement of pre-acquisition dividend for business acquired in prior year -  (3,760)
Net cash acquired on purchase of subsidiaries -  356 
Payment for purchase of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired -  (1,989)
Transaction costs relating to business acquisition -  (418)
Payments for investments -  (458)
Payments for property, plant and equipment (243) (1,379)
Payments for intangibles (42) -  
Proceeds from release of security deposits 466 -  

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 181 (7,648)
 
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings -  14,000 
Transaction costs associated with borrowings -  (74)
Payments for share buy-backs -  (66)
Share issue transaction costs (6) (62)
Repayment of borrowings principal and interest (477) (15,638)
Repayment of lease liabilities (3,962) (3,256)
Repayment of hire purchase liabilities (3) (5)

Net cash used in financing activities (4,448) (5,101)
 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,820) (13,717)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 7,924 21,608 
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 6 33 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 10 6,110 7,924 
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Note 1. General information
 
The financial statements cover Trimantium GrowthOps Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of Trimantium 
GrowthOps Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the period. The financial statements are presented 
in Australian dollars, which is Trimantium GrowthOps Limited's functional and presentation currency.
 
Trimantium GrowthOps Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its 
registered office and principal place of business is:
 
Level 11, 31 Queen St
Melbourne VIC 3000
 
A description of the nature of the Company's operations and its principal activities are included in the directors' report, 
which is not part of the financial statements.
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 28 August 2020. The 
directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements.
 
Note 2. Significant accounting policies
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
 
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted
The Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
 
AASB 16 'Leases' and its related amendments, which was mandatorily effective for annual periods commencing on or after 
1 January 2019 was early adopted effective from 1 July 2018, the impact of which was disclosed in the annual report for 
the year ended 30 June 2019.
 
With the exception of AASB 2020-4 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards - Covid-19-Related Rent 
Concessions, any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been 
early adopted.
 
The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to Group:
 
AASB 2020-4 Amendment to Australian Accounting Standards - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
The Group has early adopted the amendment to AASB 16 from 1 July 2019. The amendment provides a practical 
expedient for lessees to account for COVID-19-related rent concessions that: result in lease payments that are 
substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately prior to the change; where any 
reduction in the lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and where there is no 
substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. The practical expedient allows an entity not to assess rent 
concessions meeting the criteria as a lease modification. As a result, to the extent that lease concessions represent a 
forgiveness or waiver of lease payments, such concessions are treated as variable lease payments recognised in profit or 
loss with a corresponding adjustment to the lease liability. To the extent that the lease concession in substance represents 
a delay in lease repayments such that lease consideration is not changed, the lease liability is not extinguished. Interest 
continues to accrue for that period. The Group has applied the practical expedient to all rent concessions that meet the 
abovementioned criteria.
 
Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as 
appropriate for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB').
 
Historical cost convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for, where applicable, financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and derivative financial instruments.
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Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a 
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in note 3.
 
Going concern
The Group has prepared the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 on the going concern basis, which 
assumes continuity of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary 
course of business.
 
For the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group recorded a net loss of $$43,709,000 (2019: net loss $65,010,000) and used 
net cash in operating, investing and financing activities of $1,820,000 (2019: utilised $13,717,000). At 30 June 2020, the 
Group had cash and cash equivalents of $6,110,000 (2019: $7,924,000), net current liabilities of $5,245,000 (2019: net 
current assets of $3,653,000) and net assets of $14,286,000 (2019: $49,621,000).
 
At 30 June 2020, as detailed in note 24, senior debt of $12,718,000 was outstanding under a debt funding facility with 
Westpac Banking Corporation ('Westpac'). As announced in the Company’s half year financial results in February 2020, 
GrowthOps secured an extension of its banking facility with Westpac Banking Corporation to 1 July 2021. In April 2020, the 
financing facility was updated with revised financial performance covenants providing increased assurance through the 
ongoing support of the Company’s bankers. At 30 June 2020, the Group complied with its quarterly financial covenants 
under the revised facility.
 
The Directors have considered the Group’s revised financing and are of the view that the continued application of the going 
concern basis of accounting is appropriate due to the following factors:
 
● The Group has prepared financial forecasts for the next 12 months, which if achieved, will allow the Group to comply 

with the financial covenants under the current financing facility through to 30 June 2021 and allow for amortisation 
payments to repay part of the principal of the facility, in the amount of $500,000 in March 2021 and $500,000 in June 
2021. This total of $1,000,000 is included in current liabilities at 30 June 2020.

● The Group is considering alternative financing options, including a capital raising, in order to reduce its financial debt 
and has appointed an independent corporate adviser to facilitate a strategic review of the business and assess 
options for a financial restructuring program.

● In all reasonable financial forecast scenarios prepared by the Group, the underlying cash flow forecasts for the Group 
project positive cash balances and compliance with the revised financing facility.

 
Accordingly, the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern is dependent upon the achievement of its financial 
forecasts and the continued support of Westpac beyond the current banking facility’s maturity date of 1 July 2021.
 
However, if these financial forecasts and ongoing Westpac support are not achieved, such circumstances would indicate 
the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on ability of the Group to continue as a going 
concern and therefore it may be required to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities other than in the normal course of 
business and at amounts different from those stated in these financial statements.
 
The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset 
amounts or to the amount and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Group not continue as a going 
concern.
 
Parent entity information
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the Group only. 
Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 37.
 
Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Trimantium GrowthOps 
Limited ('Company' or 'parent entity') as at 30 June 2020 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. 
Trimantium GrowthOps Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the 'Group'.
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Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Group are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 
by the Group.
 
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change in ownership interest, 
without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration 
transferred and the book value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity 
attributable to the parent.
 
Where the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities and non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The Group 
recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained together with any gain 
or loss in profit or loss.
 
Operating segments
Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented is on the same 
basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM'). The CODM is responsible for the 
allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance.
 
Foreign currency translation
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Trimantium GrowthOps Limited's functional and 
presentation currency.
 
In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity's 
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
 
For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign 
operations are translated into Australian dollar using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income 
and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate 
significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange 
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity.
 
On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal 
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint 
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all 
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company 
are reclassified to profit or loss.
 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a foreign 
operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at 
the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Revenue recognition
The Group recognises revenue as follows:
 
Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled in 
exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the Group: identifies the 
contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations in the contract; determines the transaction price which 
takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the time value of money; allocates the transaction price to the 
separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be 
delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the 
transfer to the customer of the goods or services promised.
 
Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer such as discounts, 
rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any other contingent events. Such estimates 
are determined using either the 'expected value' or 'most likely amount' method. The measurement of variable 
consideration is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue will only be recognised to the extent that it is highly 
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The measurement 
constraint continues until the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts 
received that are subject to the constraining principle are recognised as a refund liability.
 
Advertising services
Advertising services include delivering brand strategy, digital strategy, social media, and marketing communication through 
marketing and advertising campaigns. Revenue is earned from providing retainer based and ad-hoc services. Retainer 
income is a fixed fee per month and is earned on the basis of providing dedicated teams for customers to deliver 
campaigns. Retainer income is recognised as performance obligations are satisfied over the retainer period on a straight 
line basis.
 
Revenue from providing ad-hoc services is recognised as a performance obligation is satisfied over time and is recognised 
based on the progress towards completion of the contract.
 
The Group earns media pass through income in advertising services which comprises the value of advertising production 
costs of clients that are subcontracted by the Group to external parties. The Group acts as principal of these services. This 
revenue is recognised when the performance obligations are satisfied with a corresponding disbursement expense 
recognised in profit or loss.
 
Marketing services
The Group earns revenue by providing performance based digital marketing services for its customers. These services 
include online advertising for customer acquisitions, affiliate marketing, paid search, search engine optimisation and email 
marketing automation through email and SMS. Revenue is recognised over time as the customers simultaneously receives 
and consumes the benefit. Any payments in advance are recognised as contract liabilities until the performance obligation 
of the contract is satisfied.
 
The Group earns media pass through income in marketing services which comprises the value of media spends and other 
marketing and agency costs of clients that are subcontracted by the Group to media partners. The Group acts as principal 
of these services. This revenue is recognised when the performance obligations are satisfied with a corresponding 
disbursement expense recognised in profit or loss.
 
Technology services
Technology services include providing capabilities and enhancements to the customers' IT infrastructure, hosting services, 
designing and development of application and security software, and systems integration. Revenue is recognised over time 
using the input method based on hours spent. Performance obligations for Technology Services are satisfied over time as 
the customers simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided, and an asset is created or enhanced that the 
customer controls.
 
The Group earns media pass through income in technology services which comprises delivery and support costs that are 
subcontracted by the Group to external vendors. The Group acts as principal of these services. This revenue is recognised 
when the performance obligations are satisfied with a corresponding disbursement expense recognised in profit or loss.
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Leadership and coaching
The Group earns revenue from delivering leadership training and courses to corporate and public customers. Revenue is 
recognised when the training and courses are delivered. Payments received in advance are recognised as contract 
liabilities. Where the Group provides leadership coaching, training and courses that involve multiple stages, revenue is 
recognised by reference to the progress towards completion of the course.
 
Interest income
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest 
rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset 
to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
 
Government grants
Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match them 
with the costs that they are intended to compensate in accordance with the terms of the grant.
 
Income tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable.
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences and tax losses at the tax rates expected to be 
applied when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively 
enacted, except for:
● When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
nor taxable profits; or

● When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and 
the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future.

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
 
The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred 
tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for 
the carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset.
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously.
 
Current and non-current classification
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification.
 
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the 
Group's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months 
after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle 
a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current.
 
A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the Group's normal operating cycle; it is held 
primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities 
are classified as non-current.
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current.
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Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
 
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 
30 days.
 
The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue.
 
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses.
 
Contract assets
Contract assets are recognised when the Group has transferred goods or services to the customer but where the Group is 
yet to establish an unconditional right to consideration. Contract assets are treated as financial assets for impairment 
purposes.
 
Investments and other financial assets
Investments and other financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are included as part of the 
initial measurement, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Such assets are subsequently measured 
at either amortised cost or fair value depending on their classification. Classification is determined based on both the 
business model within which such assets are held and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset 
unless an accounting mismatch is being avoided.
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired or have been transferred and the 
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. When there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovering part or all of a financial asset, it's carrying value is written off.
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets not measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income are classified as 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Typically, such financial assets will be either: (i) held for trading, where 
they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the short-term with an intention of making a profit, or a derivative; or (ii) 
designated as such upon initial recognition where permitted. Fair value movements are recognised in profit or loss.
 
Financial assets at amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost only if both of the following conditions are met: (i) it is held within a 
business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and (ii) the contractual terms of 
the financial asset represent contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.
 
Impairment of financial assets
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets which are either measured at 
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. The measurement of the loss allowance depends upon 
the Group's assessment at the end of each reporting period as to whether the financial instrument's credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition, based on reasonable and supportable information that is available, without 
undue cost or effort to obtain.
 
Where there has not been a significant increase in exposure to credit risk since initial recognition, a 12-month expected 
credit loss allowance is estimated. This represents a portion of the asset's lifetime expected credit losses that is attributable 
to a default event that is possible within the next 12 months. Where a financial asset has become credit impaired or where 
it is determined that credit risk has increased significantly, the loss allowance is based on the asset's lifetime expected 
credit losses. The amount of expected credit loss recognised is measured on the basis of the probability weighted present 
value of anticipated cash shortfalls over the life of the instrument discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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For financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the loss allowance is 
recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding expense through profit or loss. In all other cases, the loss 
allowance reduces the asset's carrying value with a corresponding expense through profit or loss.
 
Property, plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment 
(excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:
 
Leasehold improvements over the term of the lease
Plant and equipment 2-5 years
Fixtures and fittings 2-5 years
Motor vehicles 2-5 years
Office equipment 2-5 years
 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting 
date.
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the 
Group. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss.
 
Leases
Group as a lessee
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease based on whether the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
 
The Group has elected to apply the practical expedient to account for each lease component and any non-lease 
components as a single lease component.
 
Right-of-use assets 
The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is 
initially measured based on the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying 
asset less any lease incentives received. The assets are depreciated to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-
of-use asset or the lease term using the straight-line method as this most closely reflects the expected pattern of 
consumption of the future economic benefits.
 
The lease term includes periods covered by an option to extend if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option. 
Lease terms range from one to ten years. In addition, the right-of-use assets are periodically reduced by impairment 
losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability
 
Lease liabilities - right-of-use assets
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.
 
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of 
the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Group changes its assessment of whether it 
will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a 
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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The Group has elected to apply the practical expedient not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets (items with total value less than 
$10,000). The lease payments associated with these leases is recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.
 
The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which they are 
incurred. Variable lease payments include rent concessions in the form of rent forgiveness or a waiver as a direct 
consequence of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and which relate to payments originally due on or before 30 June 
2021.
 
Group as lessor
Amounts due from customers under finance leases and contract purchase agreements are recorded as receivables. 
Finance and contract purchase receivables are initially recognised at an amount equal to the present value of the minimum 
instalment payment receivable plus the present value of any unguaranteed residual value expected to accrue at the end of 
the contract term. Interest income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on 
the Group's net investment outstanding in respect of the contracts.
 
Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair value 
at the date of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite life intangible 
assets are not amortised and are subsequently measured at cost less any impairment. Finite life intangible assets are 
subsequently measured at cost less amortisation and any impairment. The gains or losses recognised in profit or loss 
arising from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the intangible asset. The method and useful lives of finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. 
Changes in the expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortisation 
method or period.
 
Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of a business. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss and are not 
subsequently reversed.
 
Brand names
Brand names acquired in a business combination are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their expected 
benefit, being their finite life of 5 years.
 
Customer relationships
Customer relationships acquired in a business combination are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their 
expected benefit, being their finite life of 3 years.
 
Software
Significant costs associated with software are deferred and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their 
expected benefit, being their finite life of 3 to 5 years.
 
Other intangibles
Other intangibles consists of intellectual properties acquired in a business combination. Other intangibles are amortised on 
a straight-line basis over the period of their expected benefit, being their finite life of 2 years.
 
Impairment of non-financial assets
Goodwill is not subject to amortisation and is tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to 
form a cash-generating unit.
 
Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year and 
which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The 
amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.
 
Contract liabilities
Contract liabilities represent the Group's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer and are recognised when a 
customer pays consideration, or when the Group recognises a receivable to reflect its unconditional right to consideration 
(whichever is earlier) before the Group has transferred the goods or services to the customer.
 
Borrowings
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. They 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
 
Finance costs
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in 
the period in which they are incurred.
 
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time value 
of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in the 
provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
 
Employee benefits
 
Short-term employee benefits
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be 
settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled.
 
Long-term employee benefits
The liabilities for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to 
the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures 
and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on high quality 
corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
 
Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based compensation benefits may be provided to employees or other parties.
 
Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange for 
the rendering of services. 
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently determined 
taking into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and 
expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of 
the option, together with non-vesting conditions that do not determine whether the Group receives the services that entitle 
the employees to receive payment. No account is taken of any other vesting conditions.
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The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the 
vesting period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the 
best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount 
recognised in profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already 
recognised in previous periods.
 
Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to market conditions 
are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other conditions are 
satisfied.
 
If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been made. 
An additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the total fair 
value of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification.
 
If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the Group or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is treated as a 
cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the Group or employee and is not satisfied during the vesting 
period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the award is forfeited.
 
If equity-settled awards are cancelled, they are treated as if they have vested on the date of cancellation, and any 
remaining expense is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the 
cancelled and new award is treated as if they were a modification.
 
Fair value measurement
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the 
fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the 
principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market.
 
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, 
assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its 
highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.
 
Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified, into three levels, using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. Classifications are reviewed at each reporting date and 
transfers between levels are determined based on a reassessment of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:
 
● Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 

measurement date
● Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly or indirectly
● Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
 
For recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, external valuers may be used when internal expertise is either 
not available or when the valuation is deemed to be significant. External valuers are selected based on market knowledge 
and reputation. Where there is a significant change in fair value of an asset or liability from one period to another, an 
analysis is undertaken, which includes a verification of the major inputs applied in the latest valuation and a comparison, 
where applicable, with external sources of data.
 
Issued capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds.
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Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired.
 
The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, equity instruments 
issued or liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree. For each business combination, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured at either fair value 
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. All acquisition costs are expensed as incurred to 
profit or loss.
 
On the acquisition of a business, the Group assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the Group's operating or 
accounting policies and other pertinent conditions in existence at the acquisition-date.
 
Where the business combination is achieved in stages, the Group remeasures its previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree at the acquisition-date fair value and the difference between the fair value and the previous carrying amount is 
recognised in profit or loss.
 
Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent 
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss. 
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity.
 
The difference between the acquisition-date fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any pre-existing investment 
in the acquiree is recognised as goodwill. If the consideration transferred and the pre-existing fair value is less than the fair 
value of the identifiable net assets acquired, being a bargain purchase to the acquirer, the difference is recognised as a 
gain directly in profit or loss by the acquirer on the acquisition-date, but only after a reassessment of the identification and 
measurement of the net assets acquired, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree, if any, the consideration transferred 
and the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquirer.
 
Business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The acquirer retrospectively adjusts the 
provisional amounts recognised and also recognises additional assets or liabilities during the measurement period, based 
on new information obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition-date. The measurement 
period ends on either the earlier of (i) 12 months from the date of the acquisition or (ii) when the acquirer receives all the 
information possible to determine fair value.
 
Earnings per share
 
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Trimantium GrowthOps Limited, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year.
 
Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account 
the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares.
 
Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part 
of the expense.
 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position.
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Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows.
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority.
 
Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Corporations Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to 'rounding-off'. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Corporations Instrument to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.
 
New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 
mandatory, have not been early adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2020. The Group's 
assessment of the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations, most relevant to the Group, 
are set out below.
 
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework)
The revised Conceptual Framework is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and 
early adoption is permitted. The Conceptual Framework contains new definition and recognition criteria as well as new 
guidance on measurement that affects several Accounting Standards. Where the Group has relied on the existing 
framework in determining its accounting policies for transactions, events or conditions that are not otherwise dealt with 
under the Australian Accounting Standards, the Group may need to review such policies under the revised framework. At 
this time, the application of the Conceptual Framework is not expected to have a material impact on the Group's financial 
statements.
 
Note 3. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions
 
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Management continually evaluates 
its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management 
bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including 
expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting 
judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the 
respective notes) within the next financial year are discussed below.
 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or may 
have, on the Group based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products and services 
offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the Group operates. Other than as addressed in 
specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the financial statements or any 
significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the Group unfavourably as at the reporting 
date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. Refer to note 11 and note 15 for further 
information.
 
Leases
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to 
exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination options) 
are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). 
 
The lease payments are discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate which is based on the Group’s best 
estimate. Refer to note 30 for further information.
 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
For contracts to provide services over time, revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion and where 
outcome of the contract can be estimated reliably. Revenue is recognised over time using the input method based on 
hours spent. Estimation of contract outcome and stage of completion involves some judgements.
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The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make other judgements, estimates and 
assumptions discussed below. Refer to note 5 for further information.
 
Allowance for expected credit losses
The allowance for expected credit losses assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. It is based on the 
lifetime expected credit loss, grouped based on days overdue, and makes assumptions to allocate an overall expected 
credit loss rate for each group. These assumptions include recent sales experience, historical collection rates, the impact 
of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and forward-looking information that is available. The allowance for expected 
credit losses, as disclosed in note 11, is calculated based on the information available at the time of preparation. The 
actual credit losses in future years may be higher or lower.
 
Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets
The Group tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment, whether goodwill 
and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in 
note 2. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. 
These calculations require the use of assumptions, including estimated discount rates based on the current cost of capital 
and growth rates of the estimated future cash flows. Refer to note 15 for assumptions used.
 
Income tax
The Group is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. The Group recognises liabilities for 
anticipated tax audit issues based on the Group's current understanding of the tax law. Where the final tax outcome of 
these matters is different from the carrying amounts, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax provisions in 
the period in which such determination is made. Refer to note 9 for further information.
 
Recovery of deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences only if the Group considers it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
 
Share-based payment transactions
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the 
date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by referencing to the fair value of ordinary shares at the grant 
date. The fair value consideration also takes into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were 
granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have no 
impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss 
and equity. Refer to note 41 for further information.
 
Note 4. Reclassification of pass through income
 
The Group enters into a contract with the customer to manage a number of projects and at the same time creates content 
for advertising projects and marketing campaigns. Accordingly, throughout the duration of the contract term, the Group is 
providing a series of distinct services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer to the 
customers. The costs of creating the content is inclusive of time, materials and external costs from its subcontractors (also 
known as pass through costs). 
 
The Group acts as principal for the production of advertising and marketing campaigns. Pass through costs and the 
component of the related revenue from contracts with customers were disclosed as separate line items in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 30 June 2019 to align with the presentation in the 
Company’s prospectus which was issued on 10 November 2017. At 30 June 2020, the disclosures in the financial 
statements have been updated to no longer separately disclose the pass through revenue. This revenue is now included 
as a component of the revenue received from customers within the Creative and Technology segments in note 5 and note 
8 of the financial statements. Accordingly, the comparative figures have been updated to conform with current year 
disclosures. The pass through costs are still separately identified in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income as it provides clarity on the nature of the costs being incurred. 
 
The total revenue amount in the Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 
2019 has remained the same as it is only a reclassification between components of total revenue. In addition, this 
reclassification has no impact on the Statement of financial position and the Statement of Cash flows of the Group as at 30 
June 2019.
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The details of reclassification are as follows:
 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Previously 
reported

Reclass of 
pass through Reclassified

30 June 2019 income 30 June 2019
$'000 $'000 $'000

Revenue
Revenue from contracts with customers 69,003 28,041 97,044
Media pass through income 28,041 (28,041) -

97,044 - 97,044
 
Disaggregation of revenue

Creative Technology

Previously 
reported  30 

Jun 2019

Reclass of 
pass 

through  
income

Alignment 
of segment*

Reclassified 
30 Jun 
2019

Previously 
reported  30 

Jun 2019

Reclass of 
pass 

through 
income

Alignment 
of segment*

Reclassified  
30 Jun 
2019

$'000 $'000 $'000    $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Major product 
lines
Advertising 
agency services 25,737 18,287 - 44,024 - - - -
Technology 
Services - - - - 26,230 1,593 - 27,823
Marketing agency 
services 8,234 8,161 2,910 19,305 - - (2,910) (2,910)

33,971 26,448 2,910 63,329 26,230 1,593 (2,910) 24,913
 

Creative Technology

Previously 
reported  30 

Jun 2019

Reclass of 
pass 

through  
income

Alignment 
of segment*

Reclassified 
30 Jun 
2019

Previously 
reported  30 

Jun 2019

Reclass of 
pass 

through 
income

Alignment 
of segment*

Reclassified  
30 Jun 
2019

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Geographical 
regions
Australia 32,644 26,436 - 59,080 14,572 13 - 14,585
New Zealand 832 12 - 844 - - - -
Hong Kong - - - - 3,610 - - 3,610
Singapore - - 1,046 1,046 2,849 296 (1,046) 2,099
Malaysia - - 1,864 1,864 5,199 1,284 (1,864) 4,619
Philippines 495 - - 495 - - - -

33,971 26,448 2,910 63,329 26,230 1,593 (2,910) 24,913
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Timing of 
revenue 
recognition
Services 
transferred at a 
point in time 1,327 12 - 1,339 - - - -
Services 
transferred over 
time 32,644 26,436 2,910 61,990 26,230 1,593 (2,910) 24,913

33,971 26,448 2,910 63,329 26,230 1,593 (2,910) 24,913
 
* Refer to note 8 for further details.
 
Note 5. Revenue from contracts with customers
 
Disaggregation of revenue
The disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers is as follows:
 

Creative Technology
Coaching and 

leadership Total
Consolidated - 2020 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Major service lines
Advertising agency services 35,963 - - 35,963
Technology services - 22,703 - 22,703
Leadership and coaching - - 8,080 8,080
Marketing agency services 17,635 - - 17,635

53,598 22,703 8,080 84,381

Geographical regions
Australia 47,080 10,614 6,414 64,108
New Zealand 916 - - 916
Hong Kong - 3,708 787 4,495
Singapore 3,984 1,452 873 6,309
Malaysia 1,612 6,697 6 8,315
Philippines 6 232 - 238

53,598 22,703 8,080 84,381

Timing of revenue recognition
Services transferred at a point in time 923 - 8,080 9,003
Services transferred over time 52,675 22,703 - 75,378

53,598 22,703 8,080 84,381
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Creative Technology
Coaching and 

leadership Total
Consolidated - 2019 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Major service lines
Advertising agency services 44,024 - - 44,024
Technology services - 24,913 - 24,913
Leadership and coaching - - 8,802 8,802
Marketing agency services 19,305 - - 19,305

63,329 24,913 8,802 97,044

Geographical regions
Australia 59,080 14,585 7,859 81,524
New Zealand 844 - - 844
Hong Kong - 3,610 359 3,969
Singapore 1,046 2,099 584 3,729
Malaysia 1,864 4,619 - 6,483
Philippines 495 - - 495

63,329 24,913 8,802 97,044

Timing of revenue recognition
Services transferred at a point in time 1,339 - 8,802 10,141
Services transferred over time 61,990 24,913 - 86,903

63,329 24,913 8,802 97,044
 
Note 6. Other income
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Government grants 1,855 -  
Fair value movement on contingent consideration 950 -  
Other income -  179 

Other income 2,805 179 
 
Government grants (COVID-19) represents grants received from the Government comprising:
(i) JobKeeper support payments - during the Coronavirus (‘COVID-19’) pandemic, the Group has received JobKeeper 

support payments from the Australian Government which are passed on to eligible employees. These have been 
recognised as government grants in accordance with terms of the grant in the financial statements and recorded as 
other income over the periods in which the related employee benefits are recognised as an expense. The JobKeeper 
payment scheme in its current form runs for the fortnights from 30 March until 27 September 2020.

(ii) Additionally, COVID-19 stimulus subsidies were also received by the Group's Singapore and Hong Kong operations.  
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Note 7. Expenses
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Depreciation
Leasehold improvements 426 383 
Plant and equipment 260 190 
Fixtures and fittings 30 66 
Motor vehicles 2 2 
Office equipment 184 248 
Right-of-use assets 3,281 3,142 

Total depreciation 4,183 4,031 

Amortisation
Brand name 677 693 
Customer relationships 6,438 6,389 
Software 198 79 
Other intangibles 183 372 

Total amortisation 7,496 7,533 

Total depreciation and amortisation 11,679 11,564 

Impairment
Goodwill 21,607 22,250 
Right-of-use assets -  610 
Customer relationships 425 -  

Total impairment 22,032 22,860 

Finance costs
Interest and finance charges paid/payable on borrowings 499 748 
Interest and finance charges paid/payable on lease liabilities 581 523 

Finance costs expensed 1,080 1,271 

Employee benefits expense
Employee benefits expense excluding superannuation 41,643 46,851 
Defined contribution superannuation expense 3,286 3,695 

Total employee benefits expense 44,929 50,546 

Share-based payments expense
Share-based payments expense 8,435 30,460 
 
Note 8. Operating segments
 
Identification of reportable operating segments
The Group is organised into three operating segments: Creative, Technology and Coaching and leadership. These 
operating segments are based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the Board of Directors (who are 
identified as the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM')) in assessing performance and in determining the allocation of 
resources. There is no aggregation of operating segments.
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The CODM reviews EBITDAS (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and share-based payments). 
The accounting policies adopted for internal reporting to the CODM are consistent with those adopted in the financial 
statements.
 
The information reported to the CODM is on a monthly basis.
 
Types of products and services

The principal products and services of each of these operating segments are as follows:
Creative develop simple, powerful brand and communication strategies through the services we offer 

including brand strategy, positioning, digital strategy, marketing communications, 
performance marketing, customer retention, social media, graphic design etc.

Technology provide technology transformation services to build strong foundations in security, 
automation and cloud. Our services include AI and machine learning, application design 
and development, cloud solutions, mobile, security software development, system 
integration etc.

Coaching and leadership develop exceptional and adaptive leaders as well as provide advice to solve complex 
business issues including financial performance, business strategy and operational 
structure. 

Other segments head office revenue and expenses including certain group expenses that have not been 
allocated such as finance costs, interest revenue and depreciation on right-of-use assets. 
Assets of other segments comprise mainly cash and cash equivalents and right-of-use 
assets. Liabilities of other segments comprise mainly provision for income tax, deferred tax 
liabilities and lease liabilities.

 
Intersegment transactions
Intersegment transactions were made at market rates and are eliminated on consolidation.
 
Intersegment receivables, payables and loans
Intersegment loans are initially recognised at the consideration received. Intersegment loans receivable and loans payable 
that earn or incur non-market interest are not adjusted to fair value based on market interest rates. Intersegment loans are 
eliminated on consolidation.
 
Major customers
During the year ended 30 June 2020, no one customer contributed more than 10% to the Group's external revenue (2019: 
nil).
 
The APD Malaysia and Singapore business was reporting in the technology segment in the previous period. At 30 June 
2020, based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used by the CODM, the products such as performance 
marketing, customer retention and social media are reported in the creative segment and technology products are reported 
in the technology segment. Accordingly, the comparative figures have been updated to conform with current year 
disclosures in segment reporting.
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Operating segment information
 

Coaching and Other
Creative Technology leadership segments Total

Consolidated - 2020 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Revenue
Sales to external customers 53,598 22,703 8,080 - 84,381
Intersegment sales 376 230 81 - 687
Total sales revenue 53,974 22,933 8,161 - 85,068
Other income 859 527 181 1,238 2,805
Interest revenue - - - 36 36
Total segment revenue 54,833 23,460 8,342 1,274 87,909
Intersegment eliminations (687)
Total revenue 87,222

EBITDA (before share-based payment and 
impairment of assets) 1,557 (3,694) (1,325) (1,432) (4,894)
Depreciation and amortisation (5,390) (2,743) (224) (3,322) (11,679)
Impairment of goodwill (note 15) (713) (20,894) - - (21,607)
Impairment of intangibles (note 15) - (425) - - (425)
Share-based payment expense (6,203) (1,612) (590) (30) (8,435)
Other income 859 527 181 1,238 2,805
Interest revenue - - - 36 36
Finance costs - - - (1,080) (1,080)
Loss before income tax (9,890) (28,841) (1,958) (4,590) (45,279)
Income tax 1,570
Loss after income tax (43,709)

Assets
Segment assets 36,153 15,385 5,653 6,495 63,686
Intersegment eliminations (7,864)
Total assets 55,822

Liabilities
Segment liabilities 13,603 12,161 3,544 20,092 49,400
Intersegment eliminations (7,864)
Total liabilities 41,536
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Coaching and Other
Creative Technology leadership segments Total

Consolidated - 2019 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Revenue
Sales to external customers 63,329 24,913 8,802 - 97,044
Intersegment sales 1,197 192 - - 1,389
Total sales revenue 64,526 25,105 8,802 - 98,433
Other income - - - 179 179
Interest revenue 23 2 4 241 270
Total segment revenue 64,549 25,107 8,806 420 98,882
Intersegment eliminations (1,389)
Total revenue 97,493

EBITDA (before share-based payment and 
impairment of assets) 2,868 (2,146) 577 (3,831) (2,532)
Depreciation and amortisation (5,736) (2,384) (321) (3,123) (11,564)
Impairment of goodwill (note 15) (11,488) (10,762) - - (22,250)
Impairment of right-of-use assets (424) (186) - - (610)
Share-based payment expense (21,936) (6,272) (2,252) - (30,460)
Interest revenue 23 2 4 241 270
Finance costs (57) (1) - (1,213) (1,271)
Loss before income tax (36,750) (21,749) (1,992) (7,926) (68,417)
Income tax 3,407
Loss after income tax (65,010)

Assets
Segment assets 39,100 40,734 6,313 15,743 101,890
Intersegment eliminations (3,013)
Total assets 98,877

Liabilities
Segment liabilities 13,095 9,444 3,620 27,652 53,811
Intersegment eliminations (4,555)
Total liabilities 49,256
 
Geographical information
 

Sales to external customers
Geographical non-current 

assets
2020 2019 2020 2019
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Australia 64,108 81,524 36,083 67,757
New Zealand 916 844 30 49
Hong Kong 4,495 3,969 26 20
Singapore 6,309 3,728 1,132 1,139
Malaysia 8,315 6,484 837 1,000
Philippines 238 495 12 17

84,381 97,044 38,120 69,982
 
The geographical non-current assets above are exclusive of, where applicable, financial instruments, post-employment 
benefits assets and rights under insurance contracts.
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Note 9. Income tax
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Income tax
Current tax 220 157 
Deferred tax - origination and reversal of temporary differences (1,998) (2,941)
Adjustment recognised for prior periods 208 (623)

Aggregate income tax (1,570) (3,407)

Deferred tax included in income tax comprises:
Increase in deferred tax assets (1,998) (2,941)

Numerical reconciliation of income tax and tax at the statutory rate
Loss before income tax (45,279) (68,417)

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30% (13,584) (20,525)

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:
Entertainment expenses 35 62 
Impairment of assets 6,610 6,750 
Share-based payments 2,531 9,138 
Acquisition costs -  124 
Sundry items (77) (196)

(4,485) (4,647)
Adjustment recognised for prior periods 208 (623)
Current year tax losses not recognised 2,737 2,247 
Prior year temporary differences not recognised now recognised -  (368)
Difference in overseas tax rates (66) (50)
Adjustment to deferred tax balances as a result of change in statutory tax rate 36 34 

Income tax (1,570) (3,407)
 



Trimantium GrowthOps Limited
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
30 June 2020
 
Note 9. Income tax (continued)
 

 
50

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Deferred tax asset
Deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences attributable to:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:
Intangible assets (2,159) (4,462)
Tax losses* 2,035 2,035 
Employee benefits 842 1,101 
Provision for lease make good 120 152 
Provision for member rewards 51 -  
Accrued expenses 93 -  
Lease liabilities (net) 135 -  
Allowance for expected credit losses 402 274 
Blackhole expenditure deduction 659 1,080 

Deferred tax asset 2,178 180 

Amount expected to be recovered within 12 months -  (59)
Amount expected to be recovered after more than 12 months 2,178 239 

2,178 180 

Movements:
Opening balance 180 (3,404)
Credited to profit or loss 1,998 2,941 
Additions through business combinations -  643 

Closing balance 2,178 180 
 
* At 30 June 2020, the Group has $44,700,000 of income tax losses available in Australia. Available income tax losses 

include $33,900,000 from the APD acquisition. The Group only recognised deferred tax assets of $2,035,000 on 
income tax losses of $6,783,000 based on the ability of the Australian Group to generate taxable profit over the next 
3-5 years.

 
Income tax refund due
Income tax refund due - 805
 
Provision for income tax payable
Provision for income tax payable 106 -
 
Note 10. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Cash at bank 6,110 7,924 
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Note 11. Current assets - trade and other receivables
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Trade receivables 9,497 17,416 
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses (1,342) (912)

8,155 16,504 

Other receivables 542 99 

8,697 16,603 
 
Allowance for expected credit losses
The Group has recognised a net loss of $3,329,000 (2019: net loss of $291,000) in profit or loss in respect of allowance for 
expected credit losses for the period ended 30 June 2020.
 
The Group applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses ('ECL') which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in 
progress and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The 
Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the 
loss rates for the contract assets.
 
The average credit period on sales of services is 61 days. No interest is charged on outstanding trade receivables.
 
To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit 
risk characteristics and the days past due.
 
The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit 
losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor 
and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general 
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of the loss rates based on the 
payment profiles of sales over a period of 24 months before 30 June 2020. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect 
current and forward looking information affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
 
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty 
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over two years past due, whichever occurs earlier. None of the 
trade receivables that have been written off is subject to enforcement activities.
 
The ageing of the receivables and allowance for expected credit losses provided for above are as follows:
 

Expected credit loss rate Carrying amount
Allowance for expected 

credit losses
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Consolidated % % $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Not overdue 2.54% 1.05% 5,521 11,503 140 121
0 to 3 months overdue 10.89% 8.90% 2,884 4,104 314 365
3 to 6 months overdue 50.00% 12.10% 390 1,037 195 125
Over 6 months overdue 98.72% 39.00% 702 772 693 301

9,497 17,416 1,342 912
 
The Group has increased its monitoring of debt recovery as there is an increased probability of customers delaying 
payment or being unable to pay, due to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. As a result, the management has 
undertaken a detailed review of balances greater than 3 months which has resulted in an increase in expected credit 
losses.
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Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses are as follows:
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Opening balance 912 152 
Additional provisions recognised due to change in accounting policy -  579 
Additional provisions recognised 3,371 306 
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable (2,899) (110)
Unused amounts reversed (42) (15)

Closing balance 1,342 912 
 
Note 12. Current assets - contract assets
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Accrued income 1,901 2,003 
 
Note 13. Current assets - other assets
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Prepayments 742 781 
Security deposits 252 779 

994 1,560 
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Note 14. Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Leasehold improvements - at cost 1,612 1,545 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (847) (421)
Exchange differences (20) (18)

745 1,106 

Plant and equipment - at cost 723 681 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (505) (245)

218 436 

Fixtures and fittings - at cost 198 193 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (98) (68)

100 125 

Motor vehicles - at cost 7 7 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (4) (2)

3 5 

Office equipment - at cost 987 858 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (452) (268)
Exchange differences 5 3 

540 593 

1,606 2,265 
 
Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below:
 

Leasehold 
improvements

Plant and 
equipment 

Fixtures and 
fittings

Motor 
vehicles

Office 
equipment Total

Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2018 290 368 48 7 102 815
Additions 989 258 143 - 438 1,828
Additions through business 
combinations 228 - - - 298 526
Exchange differences (18) - - - 3 (15)
Depreciation expense (383) (190) (66) (2) (248) (889)

Balance at 30 June 2019 1,106 436 125 5 593 2,265
Additions 67 42 5 - 129 243
Exchange differences (2) - - - 2 -
Depreciation expense (426) (260) (30) (2) (184) (902)

Balance at 30 June 2020 745 218 100 3 540 1,606
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Note 15. Non-current assets - intangibles
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Goodwill - at cost 61,278 61,278 
Less: Impairment (43,857) (22,250)

17,421 39,028 

Brand name - at cost 3,398 3,398 
Less: Accumulated amortisation (1,567) (890)

1,831 2,508 

Customer relationships - at cost 19,842 19,842 
Less: Accumulated amortisation (14,053) (7,615)
Less: Impairment (425) -  

5,364 12,227 

Software - at cost 846 834 
Less: Accumulated amortisation (283) (85)

563 749 

Other intangible assets - at cost 789 759 
Less: Accumulated amortisation (612) (429)

177 330 

25,356 54,842 
 
Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below:
 

Goodwill Brand name
Customer 

relationships Software
Other 

intangibles Total
Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2018 30,593 3,201 11,389 36 333 45,552
Additions - - - - 192 192
Additions through business 
combinations 30,685 - 7,227 792 177 38,881
Impairment of assets (22,250) - - - - (22,250)
Amortisation expense - (693) (6,389) (79) (372) (7,533)

Balance at 30 June 2019 39,028 2,508 12,227 749 330 54,842
Additions - - - 12 30 42
Impairment of assets (21,607) - (425) - - (22,032)
Amortisation expense - (677) (6,438) (198) (183) (7,496)

Balance at 30 June 2020 17,421 1,831 5,364 563 177 25,356
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Impairment testing
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to the following cash generating units ('CGU's'):
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Creative 13,697 13,697 
Asia Pacific Digital ANZ (APD ANZ) -  359 
Technology AU* -  15,374 
Technology Hong Kong* -  905 
Asia Pacific Digital Asia (APD Asia) 2,898 3,998 
Xperior -  3,869 
Coaching and leadership 826 826 

Total goodwill 17,421 39,028 
 
* Technology AU and Technology Hong Kong CGUs were grouped as one Technology CGU in the year ended 30 June 

2019. Subsequent to 30 June 2019, due to increasing segregation in operations, Technology AU and Technology 
Hong Kong have been identified as two separate CGUs.

 
Goodwill and the CGU to which it belongs is tested annually for impairment or at the end of each reporting date where an 
indicator of impairment exists. Following the Group’s recent restructure, management have re-assessed the recoverable 
amount of all CGUs.
 
At 31 December 2019, based on management’s assessment the Group recognised a goodwill impairment loss of 
$3,869,000 for the Xperior CGU, $905,000 for the Technology Hong Kong CGU and $5,500,000 for Technology AU CGU.
 
During the six month period to June 2020, the impact of COVID-19 has been felt across the business in all regions and 
management has factored in this impact when assessing the carrying value of intangibles at 30 June 2020. Management 
believes a more conservative view of future cash flows and value in use calculations is appropriate in the current economic 
environment and will reassess its assumptions over the coming six months to December 2020.
 
At 30 June 2020, the Group has recognised a further $11,333,000 of Goodwill impairment as follows:
 
● $9,874,000 in the Technology AU business;
● $359,000 in the Asia Pacific Digital ANZ (ANZ Asia) business; and
● $1,100,000 in the Asia Pacific Digital Asia (ADP Asia) business.
 
Total for the Group of $21,607,000 for the full year to June 2020 (2019: $22,250,000).
 
Recoverable amount of goodwill
The recoverable amount of the Group’s goodwill has been determined by value-in-use calculations. The calculations use 
cash flow projections based on a five year discounted cash flow model, with a terminal value applied to the discounted 
cash flows after year five. Cash flows beyond the five year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated 
below.
 
Key assumptions
Key assumptions are those to which the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is most sensitive. The following key 
assumptions were used in the Value-in-use (‘VIU’) model at 30 June 2020:
 
Creative CGU:
(a) Compound revenue growth rate of 2.0% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 5.0%);
(b) Compound operating cost growth rate of 1.0% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 2.0%);
(c) Pre-tax discount rate of 16.0% (30 June 2019: 15.4%); and
(d) Terminal growth rate of 1.0% (30 June 2019: 2.0%).
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Asia Pacific Digital ANZ (APD ANZ):
(a) Compound revenue growth rate of 1.4% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 5.0%);
(b) Compound operating cost growth rate of 1.0% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 2.0%);
(c) Pre-tax discount rate of 16.0% (30 June 2019: 15.4%); and
(d) Terminal growth rate of 1.0% (30 June 2019: 2.0%).
 
Technology AU CGU:
(a) Compound revenue growth rate of 1.4% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 5.0%);
(b) Compound operating cost growth rate of 0.6% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 2.0%);
(c) Pre-tax discount rate of 16.0% (30 June 2019: 15.4%); and
(d) Terminal growth rate of 1.0% (30 June 2019: 2.0%).
 
Technology Hong Kong CGU:
(a) Compound revenue growth rate of 1.8% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 5.0%);
(b) Compound operating cost growth rate of 1.0% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 2.0%);
(c) Pre-tax discount rate of 17.5% (30 June 2019: 15.4%); and
(d) Terminal growth rate of 1.0% (30 June 2019: 2.0%).
 
Asia Pacific Digital Asia (APD Asia) CGU:
● Compound revenue growth rate of 2.4% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 5.0%);
● Compound operating cost growth rate of 1.0% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 2.0%);
● Pre-tax discount rate of 17.5% (30 June 2019: 15.4%); and
● Terminal growth rate of 1.0% (30 June 2019: 2.0%).
 
Xperior CGU:
● Compound revenue growth rate of 3.0% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 63.0%);
● Compound operating cost growth rate of 2.0% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 55.0%);
● Pre-tax discount rate of 16.0% (30 June 2019: 15.4%); and
● Terminal growth rate of 1.0% (30 June 2019: 2.0%).
 
Coaching and leadership CGU:
(a) Compound revenue growth rate of 3.0% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 5.0%);
(b) Compound operating cost growth rate of 2.0% (30 June 2019: annual growth rate of 2.0%);
(c) Pre-tax discount rate of 16.0% (30 June 2019: 15.4%); and
(d) Terminal growth rate of 1.0% (30 June 2019: 2.0%).
 
Impairment testing results
 
Creative CGU 
No impairment existed at 30 June 2020. Based on the VIU calculation methodology and assumptions stated above, the 
carrying amount of each CGU at balance sheet date does not exceed its recoverable amount.
 
The directors believe that any reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions will not result in an impairment.
 
Technology AU CGU
The goodwill in this CGU has been impaired in full, with an impairment loss of $15,374,000 recognised in the year ended 
30 June 2020.
 
If the CGU does not achieve the assumed revenue growth rate of 1.4%, costs exceed the compound growth rate of 0.6% 
or discount rate is higher than 16.0%, there will be further impairment loss.
 
Asia Pacific Digital ANZ (APD ANZ) CGU
The goodwill in this CGU has been impaired in full, with an impairment loss of $359,000 recognised in the year ended 30 
June 2020. 
 
If the CGU does not achieve the assumed revenue growth rate of 1.4%, costs exceed the compound growth rate of 1.0% 
or discount rate is higher than 16.0%, there will be further impairment loss.
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Xperior CGU
Xperior CGU goodwill was fully impaired and impairment loss of $3,869,000 has been recognised in the year ended 30 
June 2020.
 
If the CGU does not achieve the assumed revenue growth rate of 3.0%, costs exceed the compound growth rate of 2.0% 
or discount rate is higher than 16.0%, there will be further impairment loss.
 
Technology Hong Kong CGU
Technology Hong Kong goodwill was fully impaired and impairment loss of $905,000 has been recognised in the year 
ended 30 June 2020.
 
APD Asia CGU
The impact of COVID19 on client revenues and new business prospects, had led management to adopt a more 
conservative approach when assessing the growth rates and carrying values of the intangibles within this CGU. Applying a 
revenue growth rate of only 2.4% leads to an impairment loss of $1,100,000 against the Goodwill in this CGU.
 
If the CGU does not achieve the assumed revenue growth rate of 2.4%, costs exceed the compound growth rate of 1.0% 
or discount rate is higher than 17.5%, there will be further impairment loss.
 
Coaching and leadership AU CGU
No impairment existed at 30 June 2020. Based on the VIU calculation methodology and assumptions stated above, the 
carrying amount of each CGU at balance sheet date does not exceed its recoverable amount.
 
If the CGU does not achieve the assumed revenue growth rate of 3.0%, costs exceed the compound growth rate by 2.0%, 
the carrying value of the CGU will be less than the value in use resulting in an impairment loss. 
 
Note 16. Non-current assets - right-of-use assets
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Right-of-use assets - buildings 15,295 15,793 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (6,423) (3,142)
Less: Impairment expense (610) (610)

8,262 12,041 
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Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below:
 

Right-of-use 
assets - 
buildings

Consolidated $'000

Balance at 1 July 2018 5,408
Additions 7,741
Additions through business combinations 2,644
Impairment of assets (610)
Depreciation expense (3,142)

Balance at 30 June 2019 12,041
Depreciation expense (3,281)
Lease modification (498)

Balance at 30 June 2020 8,262
 
Note 17. Non-current assets - financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Unlisted ordinary shares 458 458 
 
This investment is in a private unlisted entity incorporated in the UK. The Group's interest is approximately 4%. Refer to 
note 31 for further information on fair value measurement.
 
Note 18. Non-current assets - other
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Rent security deposits 260 196 
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Note 19. Current liabilities - trade and other payables
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Trade payables 4,251 5,759 
Accrued expenses 2,937 1,912 
GST payable 1,246 1,017 
PAYG payable 2,218 509 
Other payablesᵃ 1,090 1,573 

11,742 10,770 
 
Refer to note 30 for further information on financial instruments.
 
ᵃ Other payables at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019 comprise mainly of other creditors, superannuation and payroll tax 

liability.
 
Note 20. Current liabilities - contract liabilities
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Contract liabilities 4,837 8,107 

Reconciliation
Reconciliation of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and 
previous financial year are set out below:

Opening balance 8,107 5,818 
Recognised as revenue during the year (7,048) (6,564)
Additions during the year 3,778 7,683 
Additions through business combinations -  1,170 

Closing balance 4,837 8,107 
 
The Group expects contract liabilities will be recognised as revenue over the next twelve months.
 
Note 21. Current liabilities - borrowings
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Bank loans 1,000 -  
Hire purchase -  3 

1,000 3 
 
Refer to note 24 for further information on assets pledged as security and financing arrangements.
 
Assets pledged as security
The hire purchase liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets, recognised in the statement of 
financial position, revert to the lessor in the event of default.
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Note 22. Current liabilities - lease liabilities
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Lease liability 2,632 3,387 
 
Refer to note 30 for further information on financial instruments.
 
Note 23. Current liabilities - provisions
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Annual leave 1,812 1,833 
Long service leave 818 1,056 
Lease make good -  86 

2,630 2,975 
 
Refer to note 26 for further information on lease make good provisions.
 
Note 24. Non-current liabilities - borrowings
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Bank loans 11,718 12,696 
 
Refer to note 30 for further information on financial instruments.
 
Total secured liabilities
The total secured liabilities (current and non-current) are as follows:
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Bank loans 12,718 12,696 
Hire purchase -  3 

12,718 12,699 
 
On 15 November 2018, Trimantium GrowthOps Limited entered into a two-year, $14,000,000 senior secured debt facility 
with Westpac Banking Corporation. In February 2020, the facility maturity date was extended to 1 July 2021. In April 2020, 
the facility limit was updated to $12,835,000 and revised covenant structure centred around EBITDA, agreed. The facility 
has a variable interest rate based on BBSY 90 days which was approximately 3.81% for the financial year ended 30 June 
2020.
 
Assets pledged as security
The facility is secured by all existing and future assets and undertakings of all Australia operating entities within the Group.
 
At 30 June 2020, the carrying amounts of these assets pledged as security was $17,684,000 (30 June 2019: $25,987,000).
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Financing arrangements
Unrestricted access was available at the reporting date to the following lines of credit:
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Total facilities
Bank loans 12,835 14,000 

Used at the reporting date
Bank loans 12,718 12,696 

Unused at the reporting date
Bank loans 117 1,304 

 
Note 25. Non-current liabilities - lease liabilities
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Lease liability 6,208 9,592 
 
Refer to note 30 for further information on financial instruments.
 
Total lease liabilities (current and non-current) are set out below:

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Current 2,632 3,387 
Non-current 6,208 9,592 

8,840 12,979 
 
Reconciliation
Reconciliation of lease liabilities (current and non-current) at the beginning and end of the financial year are set out below:

Consolidated
30 June 2020

$'000

Adoption of AASB 16 on 1 July 2018 5,408
Additions 7,660
Additions through business combinations 2,644
Repayment of lease liabilities (3,256)
Interest 523
Balance at 30 June 2019 12,979

Repayment of lease liabilities (3,962)
Interest 581
Lease modification (758)

Balance at 30 June 2020 8,840
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Note 26. Non-current liabilities - provisions
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Long service leave 223 278 
Lease make good 440 498 

663 776 
 
Lease make good
The provision represents the present value of the estimated costs to make good the premises leased by the Group at the 
end of the respective lease terms.
 
Movements in provisions
Movements in each class of provision (current and non-current) during the current financial year, other than employee 
benefits, are set out below:
 

Lease make 
good

Consolidated - 2020 $'000

Carrying amount at the start of the year 584
Amounts used (143)
Exchange differences (1)

Carrying amount at the end of the year 440
 
Including:
Non-current 440
 
Note 27. Equity - issued capital
 

Consolidated
2020 2019 2020 2019

Shares Shares $'000 $'000

Ordinary shares - fully paid 151,944,798 138,932,122 88,301 88,307 
Convertible redeemable preference shares (refer below) 11,444,050 23,788,100 -  -  

163,388,848 162,720,222 88,301 88,307 
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Movements in ordinary share capital
 
Details Date Shares Issue price $'000

Balance 1 July 2018 94,869,006 67,399
Issue of shares on acquisition of subsidiary 10 August 2018 15,669,669 $1.20 18,804
Issue of shares on acquisition of subsidiary 18 September 2018 526,858 $1.20 632
Issue of shares on acquisition of business 24 December 2018 2,000,000 $0.80 1,600
Issuance of shares on conversion of Convertible 
Redeemable Preference shares 16 March 2019 25,975,343 $0.00 -
Shares buy back 16 April 2019 (108,754) $0.00 (66)
Transaction costs - $0.00 (62)

Balance 30 June 2019 138,932,122 88,307
Issuance of shares on conversion of performance 
rights 16 September 2019 25,000 $0.00 -
Issuance of shares on conversion of convertible 
redeemable preference shares 17 March 2020 12,987,676 $0.00 -
Transaction costs - $0.00 (6)

Balance 30 June 2020 151,944,798 88,301
 
Movements in convertible redeemable preference shares
 
Details Date Shares Issue price $'000

Balance 1 July 2018 47,780,200 -
Conversion to ordinary shares 16 March 2019 (23,890,100) $0.00 -
Forfeited (102,000) $0.00 -

Balance 30 June 2019 23,788,100 -
Conversion to ordinary shares 17 March 2020 (11,894,050) $0.00 -
Forfeited (450,000) $0.00 -

Balance 30 June 2020 11,444,050 -
 
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the 
Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital.
 
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote.
 
Convertible redeemable preference shares ("CRPS")
Preference shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held, with priority over ordinary shareholders.
 
Preference shares only have voting rights in limited circumstances. In these circumstances, each preference share shall 
have one vote.
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Each convertible redeemable preference share ('CRPS') can convert into a minimum of 0 ordinary shares and a maximum 
of 2 ordinary shares, depending on the achievement of the financial year ended 30 June 2018 specified performance 
measures of the individual businesses acquired by GrowthOps (each a 'GrowthOps Business'). 47,780,200 CRPS will be 
converted to 51,950,681 ordinary shares based on an agreed conversion ratio of 1:1.0. On 17 March 2020, 11,894,050 
CRPS have been converted to 12,987,676 ordinary shares (2019: On 16 March 2019, 23,890,100 CRPS have converted 
to 25,975,433 ordinary shares). Conversion remains subject to vesting conditions and provided these are met, a further 
25% on each of the second and third anniversaries of the IPO. 
 
Share buy-back
There is no current on-market share buy-back.
 
Capital risk management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce 
the cost of capital.
 
Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated 
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
 
The Group would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or company was seen as value adding 
relative to the current Company's share price at the time of the investment. 
 
The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the 2019 Annual Report.
 
Note 28. Equity - reserves
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Foreign currency reserve (115) (60)
Share-based payments reserve 48,824 40,389 

48,709 40,329 
 
Foreign currency reserve
The reserve is used to recognise exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 
operations to Australian dollars. It is also used to recognise gains and losses on hedges of the net investments in foreign 
operations.
 
Share-based payments reserve
The reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled benefits provided to the vendors of acquired subsidiaries, and 
employees as part of their compensation for services.
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Movements in reserves
Movements in each class of reserve during the current and previous financial year are set out below:
 

Foreign 
currency 

Share-based 
payments Total

Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2018 15 9,929 9,944
Foreign currency translation (75) - (75)
Share-based payments - 30,460 30,460

Balance at 30 June 2019 (60) 40,389 40,329
Foreign currency translation (55) - (55)
Share-based payments - 8,435 8,435

Balance at 30 June 2020 (115) 48,824 48,709
 
Share-based payments comprise:
 

30 June 2020 30 June 2019
$'000 $'000

Share-based payments in relation to CRPS scheme 8,261 30,113
Share-based payments in relation to performance right scheme 144 347
Share-based payments in relation to options granted to the key management personnel 30 -

8,435 30,460
 
CRPS scheme
Refer to note 41 for more information on the scheme. 
 
Note 29. Equity - dividends
 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year.
 
Note 30. Financial instruments
 
Financial risk management objectives
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the 
Group. The Group may use derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge certain 
risk exposures when necessary. The Group uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is 
exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks and 
ageing analysis for credit risk.
 
Risk management is carried out by senior finance executives ('finance') under policies approved by the Board of Directors 
('the Board') from time to time. Finance identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks, when necessary within the Group's 
operating units. Finance reports to the Board on a monthly basis.
 
Market risk
 
Foreign currency risk
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign currency risk 
through foreign exchange rate fluctuations.
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Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity's functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis and 
cash flow forecasting.
 
The Group's foreign exchange risk is managed to ensure sufficient funds are available to meet foreign denominated 
financial commitments in a timely and cost-effective manner. The Group will continually monitor this risk and consider 
entering into forward foreign exchange, foreign currency swap and foreign currency option contracts if appropriate.
 
Creditors and debtors as at 30 June 2020 were reviewed to assess currency risk at year end. The value of transactions 
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the respective subsidiary was insignificant and therefore 
the risk was determined as not being significant.
 
The Group has subsidiaries with their functional currency denominated in the country its incorporated in and accordingly 
these are translated into the reporting currency of the Group at year end. The carrying amount of the Group's foreign 
currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the reporting date were as follows:
 

Assets Liabilities
2020 2019 2020 2019

Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Hong Kong dollars 877 531 518 660
US dollars 656 920 17 4
Singapore dollars 1,176 1,469 1,184 1,238
Chinese Yuan 400 341 49 288
Philippines Peso 165 393 260 243
Malaysia ringgit 1,340 1,418 1,048 1,242
New Zealand dollars 92 163 140 138

4,706 5,235 3,216 3,813
 
The Group had net assets denominated in foreign currencies of $1,490,000 (assets of $4,706,000 less liabilities of 
$3,216,000 as at 30 June 2020 (2019: net assets of $1,422,000). Based on this exposure, had the Australian dollar 
weakened by 10%/strengthened by 10% against these foreign currencies with all other variables held constant, the Group's 
other comprehensive income for the year would have been $177,000 lower/$177,000 higher and equity would have been 
$149,000 lower/$149,000 higher (2019: other comprehensive income for the period would have been $170,000 
lower/$170,000 higher and equity would have been $142,000 lower/$142,000 higher). The percentage change is the 
expected overall volatility of the significant currencies, which is based on management's assessment of reasonable 
possible fluctuations taking into consideration movements during the year and the spot rate at each reporting date. 
 
Price risk
The Group is not exposed to any significant price risk.
 
Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to the risk of changes in market interest rates related to the bank loan with variable interest rate. 
The analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at reporting date was outstanding for the whole 
year. If interest rates decreased/increased by 50 basis points and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s loss 
before tax for the year would have been $64,000 lower/$64,000 higher (2019: loss before tax for the year would have been 
$63,000 lower/$63,000 higher). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate 
borrowings.
 
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for borrowings at the 
reporting date.
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Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Bank loans 12,718 12,696 
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Effect on loss before tax:
-50 basis points 64 63 
+50 basis points (64) (63)
 
Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
Group. The Group has a strict code of credit, including obtaining agency credit information, confirming references and 
setting appropriate credit limits. The Group obtains guarantees where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for 
impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements. The 
Group does not hold any collateral.
 
The Group has adopted a lifetime expected loss allowance in estimating expected credit losses to trade receivables 
through the use of a provisions matrix using fixed rates of credit loss provisioning. These provisions are considered 
representative across all customers of the Group based on recent sales experience, historical collection rates and forward-
looking information that is available. As disclosed in note 11 due to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, the calculation 
of expected credit losses has been revised as at 30 June 2020 and rates have increased in each category up to 6 months 
overdue.
 
Generally, trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators of this include 
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan, no active enforcement activity and a failure to make contractual 
payments for a period greater than 1 year.
 
Liquidity risk
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash 
equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable.
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves by continuously monitoring actual and forecast 
cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
 
Financing arrangements
Unused borrowing facilities at the reporting date:
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Bank loans 117 1,304 
 
The bank loan was a two year $14,000,000 senior debt facility with Westpac Banking Corporation. The facility was due to 
mature on 14 November 2020. In February 2020 the Westpac Bank facility maturity date was extended to 1 July 2021. In 
April 2020, the facility limit was updated to $12,385,000 and revised covenant structure centred around EBITDA agreed. 
The facility has a variable interest rate based on BBSY 90 days which was approximately 3.81% for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020. 
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Remaining contractual maturities
The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables have 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 
financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining 
contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position.
 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 1 year or less
Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years Over 5 years

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities

Consolidated - 2020 % $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Non-derivatives
Non-interest bearing
Trade payables - 4,251 - - - 4,251
Other payables - 7,491 - - - 7,491

Interest-bearing - variable
Bank loans 3.81% 1,000 11,718 - - 12,718

Interest-bearing - fixed rate
Lease liability 4.60% 2,632 2,642 3,479 87 8,840
Total non-derivatives 15,374 14,360 3,479 87 33,300
 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 1 year or less
Between 1 
and 2 years

Between 2 
and 5 years Over 5 years

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities

Consolidated - 2019 % $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Non-derivatives
Non-interest bearing
Trade payables - 5,759 - - - 5,759
Other payables - 5,011 - - - 5,011

Interest-bearing - variable
Bank loans 4.31% - 12,696 - - 12,696

Interest-bearing - fixed rate
Hire purchase 2.50% 3 - - - 3
Lease liability 4.60% 3,387 3,231 6,221 140 12,979
Total non-derivatives 14,160 15,927 6,221 140 36,448
 
The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed 
above.
 
Fair value of financial instruments
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.
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Note 31. Fair value measurement
 
Fair value hierarchy
The following tables detail the Group's assets and liabilities, measured or disclosed at fair value, using a three level 
hierarchy, based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the entire fair value measurement, being:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 
measurement date
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
or indirectly
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Consolidated - 2020 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - unlisted 
ordinary shares - - 458 458
Total assets - - 458 458
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Consolidated - 2019 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - unlisted 
ordinary shares - - 458 458
Total assets - - 458 458

Liabilities
Contingent consideration - - 950 950
Total liabilities - - 950 950
 
There were no transfers between levels during the financial year.
 
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values due to their short-term nature.
 
The fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market 
interest rate that is available for similar financial liabilities.
 
Valuation techniques for fair value measurements categorised within level 2 and level 3
As at 30 June 2020, the unquoted investment and contingent consideration has been valued using a discounted cash flow 
model.
 
Level 3 assets and liabilities
Movements in level 3 assets and liabilities during the current and previous financial year are set out below:
 

Unlisted 
ordinary 
shares

Contingent 
consideration Total

Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2018 - - -
Additions 458 (950) (492)

Balance at 30 June 2019 458 (950) (492)
Gains recognised in profit or loss - 950 950

Balance at 30 June 2020 458 - 458
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Note 32. Key management personnel disclosures
 
Compensation
The aggregate compensation made to the members of key management personnel of the Company is set out below:
 

Consolidated
2020 2019

$ $

Short-term employee benefits 1,645,109 935,902 
Post-employment benefits 77,119 55,023 
Share-based payments 30,000 -  

1,752,228 990,925 
 
Note 33. Remuneration of auditors
 
During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the 
auditor of the Company, and its network firms:
 

Consolidated
2020 2019

$ $

Audit services - Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Audit or review of the financial statements 265,000 305,000 

Other services - Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Tax compliance services 122,000 155,000 

387,000 460,000 

Other services - network firms
Tax compliance services 22,000 50,000 
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Note 34. Contingent liabilities
 
The Group had no other contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020, except lease guarantees liability of $591,000 which is in 
respect of office leases (2019: $591,000).
 
Note 35. Related party transactions
 
Parent entity
Trimantium GrowthOps Limited is the parent entity.
 
Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 36.
 
Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 32 and the remuneration report included in the 
directors' report.
 
Transactions with related parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties:
 

Consolidated
2020 2019

$ $

Sale of goods and services:
Sale of services to Sargon Capital Pty Ltd and its controlled entities* 2,006,923 4,580,920 
Sale of services to Trimantium Insurance Partners Pty Ltd* -  174,704 

Payment for goods and services:
Payment for services from Paddl Co. Pty Ltd, a company controlled by Dominique Fisher -  100,000 
Rent of office from The Hong Kong Trust Company Limited, a company controlled by Sargon 
Capital Pty Ltd* 12,985 155,705 

Other transactions:
Remuneration to close member of a key management personnel for services rendered -  91,027 
 
Receivable from and payable to related parties
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties:
 

Consolidated
2020 2019

$ $

Current receivables:
Trade receivables from Sargon Capital Pty Ltd and its controlled entities* -  1,193,007 
Trade receivables from Trimantium Insurance Partners Pty Ltd* -  192,174 

Current payables:
Rent of office from The Hong Kong Trust Company Limited, a company controlled by Sargon 
Capital Pty Ltd* 1,545 -  
Remuneration payable to Phillip Kingston 36,869 25,919 
 
* Phillip Kingston is a founder, a shareholder and an executive director of Sargon Capital Pty Ltd. Trimantium Insurance 

Partners Pty Ltd, is an entity controlled by Phillip Kingston. Phillip Kingston resigned as Non-Executive Director on 5 
February 2020.

 
Loans to/from related parties
There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date.
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Note 36. Interests in subsidiaries
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 2:
 

Ownership interest
Principal place of business / 2020 2019

Name Country of incorporation % %

AJF Partnership Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
First Floor Films Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
GrowthOps Voodoo Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
GrowthOps Jtribe Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
GrowthOps IECL Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
Institute of Executive Coaching and Leadership (Hong 
Kong) Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 
Moshi Asia Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
GrowthOps KDIS Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
GrowthOps 3wks Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
GrowthOps Khemistry Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
IECL SG Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100% 
IECL Shanghai Company Ltd China 100% 100% 
GrowthOps Software Services Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
Rumble Asia Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 
Trimantium GrowthOps Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 
Trimantium GrowthOps Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100% 100% 
The Unit Co Pty. Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
GrowthOps Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
GrowthOps Services Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
GrowthOps APD Pty. Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
ACN 123 287 025 Australia 100% 100% 
GrowthOps APD Australia Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
Asia Pacific Digital Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100% 
APD Interact Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
Asia Venture Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
APD Engage Holdings Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
GrowthOps Services Philippines Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100% 
APD Holdings Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100% 
Next Digital Shanghai Co. Ltd China 100% 100% 
APD Interact Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 
GrowthOps APD NZ Limited New Zealand 100% 100% 
Asia Pacific Digital Manila (Branch) Philippines 100% 100% 
GrowthOps Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100% 
APD Digital Services SDN BHD Malaysia 100% 100% 
APD Services Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 
American Next Digital IT Consultants Mexico 100% 100% 
Jericho Digital Asia Pte Ltd Singapore 100% 100% 
APD ENGAGE PTY LTD Australia 100% 100% 
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Note 37. Parent entity information
 
Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity.
 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
 

Parent
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Loss after income tax (84,863) (6,451)

Total comprehensive income (84,863) (6,451)
 
Statement of financial position
 

Parent
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Total current assets 2,677 4,209 

Total assets 40,043 110,422 

Total current liabilities 2,186 1,072 

Total liabilities 29,209 14,719 

Net assets 10,834 95,703 

Equity
Issued capital 88,301 88,307 
Share-based payments reserve 40,388 40,388 
Accumulated losses (117,855) (32,992)

Total equity 10,834 95,703 
 
Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries
The parent entity is a party to a deed of cross guarantee (refer note 38), under which it guarantees the debts of certain of 
its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019.
 
Contingent liabilities
The parent entity had no other contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020, except lease guarantees liability of $577,000, 
which is in respect of office leases (2019: $577,000).
 
Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019.
 
Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the Group, as disclosed in note 2, except for the 
following:
● Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment.
● The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the 

group is treated as a capital contribution to that subsidiary undertaking. The fair value of employee services received, 
measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment 
in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity.
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Note 38. Deed of cross guarantee
 
The following entities are party to a deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts of the 
others:
 
Trimantium GrowthOps Limited
AJF Partnership Pty Ltd
First Floor Films Pty Ltd
GrowthOps Voodoo Pty Ltd
GrowthOps Jtribe Pty Ltd
GrowthOps IECL Pty Ltd
Institute of Executive Coaching and Leadership (Hong Kong) Limited
Moshi Asia Pty Ltd
GrowthOps KDIS Pty Ltd
GrowthOps 3wks Pty Ltd
GrowthOps Khemistry Pty Ltd
IECL SG Pte Ltd
GrowthOps Software Services Pty Ltd
Rumble Asia Limited
Trimantium GrowthOps Hong Kong Limited
Trimantium GrowthOps Singapore Pte. Ltd.
The Unit Co Pty Ltd
GrowthOps Holdings Pty Ltd
GrowthOps Services Pty Ltd
GrowthOps APD Ltd
ACN 123 287 025 Pty Ltd.
GrowthOps APD Australia Pty Ltd
APD Interact Holdings Pty Ltd
Asia Venture Pty Ltd
APD Engage Holdings Pty Ltd
 
By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare financial 
statements and directors' report under Corporations Instrument 2016/785 issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission.
 
The above companies represent a 'Closed Group' for the purposes of the Corporations Instrument, and as there are no 
other parties to the deed of cross guarantee that are controlled by Trimantium GrowthOps Limited, they also represent the 
'Extended Closed Group'.
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Set out below is a consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of financial 
position of the 'Closed Group'.
 

2020 2019
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income $'000 $'000

Rendering of services 69,283 86,369
Other income 950 179
Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method 33 269
Grants and subsidies 1,703 -
Media pass through expense (18,855) (26,449)
Freelance, contractors, consumables and associated costs (8,046) (8,840)
Employee benefits (35,508) (43,208)
Share-based payments (8,435) (30,460)
Occupancy (492) -
Depreciation and amortisation (10,622) (11,363)
Impairment of assets (22,032) (22,860)
Professional and consultancy (1,542) (1,368)
Travel and entertainment (949) (1,722)
IT expenses (2,860) (1,677)
Marketing and advertising (395) (766)
Administration expenses (1,790) (2,659)
Acquisition expenses - (418)
Other expenses (3,419) (108)
Finance costs (822) (1,271)

Loss before income tax (43,798) (66,352)
Income tax 1,674 3,478

Loss after income tax (42,124) (62,874)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - -

Total comprehensive income for the year (42,124) (62,874)
 

2020 2019
Equity - accumulated losses $'000 $'000

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year (64,555) (1,681)
Loss after income tax (42,124) (62,874)

Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year (106,679) (64,555)
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2020 2019
Statement of financial position $'000 $'000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5,355 7,167
Trade and other receivables 12,022 14,384
Contract assets 1,492 2,000
Income tax refund due - 850
Other assets 883 1,034

19,752 25,435
Non-current assets
Receivables (intercompany) 15,543 17,807
Property, plant and equipment 861 1,330
Intangibles 24,345 53,927
Right-of-use assets 6,239 12,041
Financial assets at amortised cost - 295
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 458 458
Deferred tax 2,159 161

49,605 86,019

Total assets 69,357 111,454

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 9,925 8,665
Contract liabilities 4,218 7,537
Borrowings 1,000 3
Lease liabilities 1,878 3,387
Income tax 100 -
Provisions 2,449 2,773

19,570 22,365
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 11,718 12,696
Lease liabilities 4,810 9,592
Provisions 505 693
Contingent consideration - 950

17,033 23,931

Total liabilities 36,603 46,296

Net assets 32,754 65,158

Equity
Issued capital 87,813 87,806
Reserves 51,620 41,907
Accumulated losses (106,679) (64,555)

Total equity 32,754 65,158
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Note 39. Cash flow information
 
Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash from/(used in) operating activities
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Loss after income tax for the year (43,709) (65,010)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 11,679 11,564 
Impairment of intangibles 22,032 22,860 
Share-based payments 8,435 30,460 
Foreign exchange differences (62) (75)
Investing and financing expenses 1,080 1,271 
Allowance for expected credit losses -  181 
Contingent consideration gains recognised in profit or loss (950) -  
Lease modifications (260) -  

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease in trade and other receivables 7,903 9,350 
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets 102 (1,288)
(Increase)/decrease in other assets 38 (811)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 973 (5,289)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities (3,270) 1,119 
Increase/(decrease) in provision for income tax 911 (2,723)
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (1,998) (2,941)
Increase in provisions (457) 364 

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 2,447 (968)
 
Non-cash investing and financing activities
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Shares issued in relation to business combinations -  21,036 
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Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities
 

Bank Hire purchase
Lease liability 
right-of-use

loans liability asset Total
Consolidated $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2018 - 8 - 8
Net cash used in financing activities (1,712) (5) (3,256) (4,973)
Adoption of AASB 16 - - 5,408 5,408
Additions - - 7,660 7,660
Changes through business combinations 13,660 - 2,644 16,304
Interest and other changes 748 - 523 1,271

Balance at 30 June 2019 12,696 3 12,979 25,678
Net cash used in financing activities (477) (3) (3,962) (4,442)
Lease modification - - (758) (758)
Interest and other changes 499 - 581 1,080

Balance at 30 June 2020 12,718 - 8,840 21,558
 
Note 40. Earnings per share
 

Consolidated
2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Trimantium GrowthOps Limited (43,709) (65,010)
 

Number Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share 142,713,320 117,741,217

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share 142,713,320 117,741,217
 

Cents Cents

Basic earnings per share (30.63) (55.21)
Diluted earnings per share (30.63) (55.21)
 
Convertible redeemable preference shares have been excluded from the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
used in calculating diluted loss per share as they are considered anti-dilutive.
 
Note 41. Share-based payments
 
Convertible redeemable preference shares
On 15 March 2018, 47,780,200 convertible redeemable preference shares ('CRPS') were issued to the vendors of the 
acquired companies. Based on the individual performance of each of the acquired businesses in FY18, 47,780,200 CRPS 
will be converted into 51,950,681 ordinary shares. The shares issued do not form part of total purchase price for the 
acquired entities and instead have been treated as a share based payment in accordance with AASB 2 'Share Based 
Payments' as the CRPS are subject to vesting conditions linked to service and will be expensed over the vesting 
period. Subject to terms and conditions each CRPS converts into ordinary shares on the following dates (each a 
conversion Date) and in the following tranches:
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Number of
shares

15/03/2019 - First anniversary of the Completion Date 23,890,100
15/03/2020 - Second anniversary of the Completion Date 11,945,050
15/03/2021 - Third anniversary of the Completion Date 11,945,050

47,780,200
 
Conversion of the CRPS into Shares is subject to retention hurdles. Conversion will be staggered so that 50% of the CRPS 
will convert on the first anniversary of Completion and a further 25% on each of the second and third anniversaries of 
Completion. Conversion will only occur if the Partner who represents the relevant Vendor continues to be employed by 
GrowthOps at the time (other than in exceptional circumstances). On 17 March 2020, 11,894,050 CRPS have been 
converted to 12,987,676 ordinary shares (2019: On 16 March 2019, 23,890,100 CRPS have been converted to 25,975,433 
ordinary shares).
 
The CRPS had a fair value of $1.00 per share on the date they were issued. 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group recognised a share-based payment expense of $8,435,000 (2019: 
$30,460,000) including $8,261,000 (2019: $30,112,000) with respect to the convertible redeemable preference shares 
issued on 15 March 2018. The table below summarises the estimated share-based payment expense from FY18 to FY21 
in relation to this CRPS scheme:
 

30 June 2018 30 June 2019 30 June 2020 30 June 2021 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Share-based payment expense in relation to 
CRPS scheme* 9,829 30,113 8,261 2,848 51,051
 
* Share-based payment subject to changes if there are changes in conversion ratio or retention hurdles not being met.
 
Set out below are summaries of the redeemable preference shares issued in accordance with the Sales Price Agreement:
 
2020

Balance at Converted Expired/ Balance at 
Exercise the start of to ordinary forfeited/ the end of 

Grant date Expiry date price the year Issued shares  other the year

15/03/2018 15/03/2021 $0.00 23,788,100 - (11,894,050) (450,000) 11,444,050
23,788,100 - (11,894,050) (450,000) 11,444,050

 
2019

Balance at Converted Expired/ Balance at 
Exercise the start of to ordinary forfeited/ the end of 

Grant date Expiry date price the year Issued shares  other the year

15/03/2018 15/03/2021 $0.00 47,780,200 - (23,890,100) (102,000) 23,788,100
47,780,200 - (23,890,100) (102,000) 23,788,100

 
Performance rights 
On 28 March 2019, the Group issued 1,450,000 performance rights to its employees for no cash consideration. 150,000 
were forfeited in the year ended 30 June 2019. Additionally, performance rights of 50,000 were forfeited and 25,000 have 
been converted into 25,000 ordinary shares in the year ended 30 June 2020. The performance rights are subject to vesting 
conditions linked to service and will be expensed over the vesting period. Upon satisfying the vesting condition, each 
performance right will convert to one ordinary share on the following dates (each a conversion date) and in the following 
tranches: 
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Number of 
performance 
rights vest

01/07/2019 625,000
16/03/2020 250,000
30/06/2020 100,000
16/03/2021 250,000

1,225,000
 
Conversion of the performance rights into shares is subject to retention hurdles. Conversion will only occur if the eligible 
employees continue to be employed by the group on the conversion date. Each performance right has a fair value of 
$0.455 being the market value of the Group’s ordinary shares on grant date. 
 
Set out below are summaries of performance rights granted under the plan:
 
2020

Balance at Balance at 
Exercise the start of the end of 

Grant date Expiry date price the year Granted Exercised Forfeited the year

28/03/2019 16/03/2021 $0.00 1,300,000 - (25,000) (50,000) 1,225,000
1,300,000 - (25,000) (50,000) 1,225,000

 
2019

Balance at Balance at 
Exercise the start of the end of 

Grant date Expiry date price the year Granted Exercised Forfeited the year

28/03/2019 16/03/2021 $0.00 - 1,450,000 - (150,000) 1,300,000
- 1,450,000 - (150,000) 1,300,000

 
The weighted average remaining contractual life of performance rights outstanding at the end of the financial year was 0.75 
years
 
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group recognised a share-based payment expense of $144,210 (2019: 
$343,098). The table below summarises the estimated share based payment expense from FY19 to FY21 in relation to the 
performance right scheme: 
 

30 June 2019 30 June 2020 30 June 2021 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Share-based payment expense in relation to performance 
right scheme 347 144 26 517
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Share options
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group issued the following options to its executive and non-executive directors 
and the Chief Financial Officer: 
● On 13 October 2019, Scott Tanner - Non-Executive Chairman - was granted 300,000 options to acquire the 

Company’s ordinary shares with $0.2 exercise price which can only be exercised where the 30-day Volume Weighted 
Average Price (VWAP) of the Company’s ordinary shares exceeds $0.3 on the date of exercise. One third of the 
options will vest on the first, the second and the third anniversaries of their issue.

● On 13 October 2019, Clint Cooper - Managing Director and Executive Officer - was granted 1,000,000 options to 
acquire the Company’s ordinary shares with $0.2 exercise price which can only be exercised where the 30-day VWAP 
of the Company’s ordinary shares exceeds $0.5 on the date of exercise. One third of the options will vest on the first, 
the second and the third anniversaries of their issue.

● On 13 October 2019, Philip Dalidakis - Non-Executive Director - was granted 80,000 options to acquire the 
Company’s ordinary shares with $0.2 exercise price which can only be exercised where the 30-day VWAP of the 
Company’s ordinary shares exceeds $0.3 on the date of exercise. One third of the options will vest on the first, the 
second and the third anniversaries of their issue.

● On 13 October 2019, Jessica Hart - Non-Executive Director - was granted 30,000 options to acquire the Company’s 
ordinary shares with $0.2 exercise price which can only be exercised where the 30-day VWAP of the Company’s 
ordinary shares exceeds $0.3 on the date of exercise. One third of the options will vest on the first, the second and 
the third anniversaries of their issue.

● On 13 October 2019, Craig Davies - Executive Director - was granted 400,000 options to acquire the Company’s 
ordinary shares with $0.2 exercise price which can only be exercised where the 30-day VWAP of the Company’s 
ordinary shares exceeds $0.5 on the date of exercise. One third of the options will vest on the first, the second and 
the third anniversaries of their issue. 

The 400,000 options were forfeited on 26 June 2020 when Mr. Davies resigned as Executive Director. On 
appointment as a Non-Executive Director on 26 June 2020, Mr. Davies was granted 80,000 options to acquire the 
Company’s ordinary shares with a $0.10 exercise price which can only be exercised where the 30-day VWAP of the 
Company’s ordinary shares exceeds $0.15 on the date of exercise. One third of the options will vest on the first, the 
second and the third anniversaries of their issue.

● On 13 October 2019, Craig McMenamin - Chief Financial Officer - was granted 150,000 options to acquire the 
Company’s ordinary shares with $0.2 exercise price which can only be exercised where the 30-day VWAP of the 
Company’s ordinary shares exceeds $0.5 on the date of exercise. One third of the options will vest on the first, the 
second and the third anniversaries of their issue.

 
Set out below are summaries of the share options granted under the plan:
 
2020

Balance at Expired/ Balance at 
Exercise the start of forfeited/ the end of 

Grant date Expiry date price the year Granted Exercised  other the year

13/10/2019 13/10/2029 $0.20 - 1,960,000 - (400,000) 1,560,000
26/06/2020 26/06/2030 $0.10 - 80,000 - - 80,000

- 2,040,000 - (400,000) 1,640,000
 
Weighted average exercise price $0.00 $0.20 $0.00 $0.20 $0.20 
 
No options are exercisable at the end of the financial year.
 
The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the financial year was 9.3 years 
(2019: n/a).
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Note 42. Events after the reporting period
 
On 23 July 2020, the Group announced the appointment of Andrew Baxter as a Non-Executive Director on the GrowthOps 
board of directors. A highly regarded company director, business advisor and marketing thought leader, Mr Baxter brings 
more than 25 years’ experience in the marketing and communications industry, including large multi-agency businesses, 
as well as in growth businesses and turnarounds. His deep domain knowledge across creative, production and digital 
marketing services, track record in leading and growing businesses through organic and inorganic means, and the regard 
in which he is held by his former clients, peers and teams will add impetus to re-energising the Group’s strategy, market 
positioning and sales.
 
The Group is currently assessing its eligibility for the Australian Government’s recently announced ‘JobKeeper 2.0’ and 
other COVID-19 subsidies and related concessions available in Australia and the Asia region.
 
The Group continues to prosecute its claim for unpaid invoices related to intellectual property developed for Sargon Capital 
Pty Ltd and related entities. An initial mediation was conducted on 19 August 2020 with further mediation to be 
rescheduled in early September 2020. The group is expensing all legal fees as incurred and closely managing its legal 
costs in pursuing its claim.
 
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is ongoing and subsequent to year-end a Stage 4 lockdown was introduced in 
Melbourne, Australia. It is not practical to estimate the potential impact of the pandemic, positive or negative, after the 
reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the Australian Government 
and other jurisdictions, such as maintaining social distancing requirements, mandatory quarantine, travel restrictions and 
any economic stimulus that may be provided.
 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2020 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect 
the Group's operations, the results of those operations, or the Group's state of affairs in future financial years.
 



Trimantium GrowthOps Limited
Directors' declaration
30 June 2020

83

In the directors' opinion:

● the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, the 
Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;

● the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 2 to the financial statements;

● the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 
2020 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

● there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors

___________________________
Scott Tanner
Chairman

28 August 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of  
Trimantium GrowthOps Limited  

 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial report of Trimantium GrowthOps Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(the “Group”) which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including:  

(i)  giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of their financial 
performance for the year then ended; and   

(ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) 
(the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given 
to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this 
auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

We draw attention to Note 2 in the financial report, which indicates that for the year ended 30 June 2020 
the Group recorded a net loss of $43,709,000 (2019:$65,010,000) and used net cash in operating, investing 
and financing activities of $1,820,000 (2019:$13,717,000) . As stated in Note 2, these conditions, along 
with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter. 

Our procedures in relation to going concern included, but were not limited to: 
 
 

 inquiring of management and the directors as to knowledge of events and conditions that may impact 
the assessment on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern; 
 
 

 challenging the assumptions contained in management’s forecast in relation to the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern; and 
  

 assessing the adequacy of the disclosures related to going concern in Note 2. 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report for the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going 
Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be 
communicated in our report. 

Key Audit Matter How the scope of our audit responded to the Key 
Audit Matter 

 
Carrying value of Goodwill and Intangible 
Assets 
 
As at 30 June 2020, the Group has goodwill of 
$17,421,000, customer relationship of $5,364,000 
and other intangible assets of $2,571,000.  
 
In respect of Technology AU, Xperior and 
Technology Hong Kong, management undertook 
an impairment test of these three CGUs at the half-
year as they identified indicators of impairment at 
that time. As a result of this impairment test, 
management recognised an impairment loss of 
$10,699,000 ($5,500,000 Technology AU; 
$3,869,000 Xperior and $1,330,000 Technology 
Hong Kong) at the half-year ended 31 December 
2019.  
 
Management performed an impairment 
assessment as at 30 June 2020 of all CGU’s and 
further impairment was required amounting to 
$11,333,000 ($9,874,000 Technology AU, 
$359,000 Asia Pacific Digital ANZ and $1,100,000 
Asia Pacific Digital Asia). As a result, total 
impairment loss of $22,032,000 in respect of 
goodwill and intangible assets has been recognized 
for the year ended 30 June 2020. 
 
The directors’ assessment of the recoverability of 
goodwill and intangible assets requires the 
exercise of significant judgement, including: 
 
 Identifying the cash generating units (CGUs) 

to which goodwill has been allocated; and 
 

 Estimating the future growth rates, nominal 
discount rates and the expected cash flows of 
each CGU to which goodwill has been 
allocated. 

 
 
 
 
Our procedures included, but were not limited to: 
 
 Evaluating the Group’s categorisation of CGUs and 

the allocation of goodwill to the carrying value of 
CGUs based on our understanding of the Group’s 
business. This evaluation included performing an 
analysis of the Group’s internal reporting; 
 

 In conjunction with Deloitte valuation specialists 
assessing the following key assumptions: 
 

o the discount rate in comparison to an 
independently calculated discount rate; 

o growth rate in comparison to external data; 
and 

o budgeted revenue and margins, with 
reference to historical performance and 
external data. 
 

 Testing on a sample basis, the mathematical 
accuracy of the discounted cash flow models;  
 

 Agreeing FY2021 EBITDA to the latest Board 
approved budget; 
 

 Assessing the accuracy of historical forecasts 
against the actual cash flow outcomes and 
considering the impact on the assumptions used in 
latest Board approved budget; 
 

 Challenged the key assumptions adopted by 
management by performing sensitivity analyses on 
a number of assumptions, in particular discount 
rates and growth rates, with consideration of 
potential ongoing economic impacts of the COVID-
19 pandemic; and 
 

 Evaluating the appropriateness of the disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

Other Information  

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020 but does not include the financial 
report and our auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  

 



 

 

Other Information (continued) 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and 
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that 
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:   

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as 
a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group’s audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 

 



 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report (continued) 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.  
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats 
or safeguards applied.  

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected 
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 
Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 13 to 20 of the Directors’ Report for the year 
ended 30 June 2020.  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Trimantium GrowthOps Limited, for the year ended 30 June 
2020, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Responsibilities  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards.  

 

 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

Carlo Pasqualini 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Sydney, 28 August 2020 
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The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 20 August 2020.
 
Distribution of equitable securities
Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding:
 

Number of 
holders of

Number of 
holders of Number of 

redeemable performance holders 
Number shares rights of options 

of holders over over  over 
of ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary 

shares shares shares shares

1 to 1,000 648 - - -
1,001 to 5,000 294 - - -
5,001 to 10,000 53 - - -
10,001 to 100,000 119 - 6 4
100,001 and over 74 15 5 3

1,188 15 11 7

Holding less than a marketable parcel 967 - - -
 
Equity security holders
 
Twenty largest quoted equity security holders
The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:
 

Ordinary shares

Number held
% of total 

shares issued

Asia Selangor Investments Pty Ltd 20,000,000 13.16
TGO Holdings 2 Pty Ltd 17,000,000 11.19
Trimantium CT Pty Ltd (Tc Special Operations A/C) 16,380,782 10.78
Pattani Private Capital Pty Ltd 14,712,359 9.68
Valuestream Investment Management Ltd (Co-Investor No3 Pipefund A/C) 6,395,152 4.21
Adam James Francis Pty Ltd (Francis Family A/C) 5,408,054 3.56
AJF Fabbro Pty Ltd (AJF Fabbro Family A/C) 5,408,054 3.56
JL Stephens Pty Ltd (JL Stephens Family A/C) 4,105,369 2.70
Trimantium Capital Pty Ltd 3,975,173 2.62
AJF Foote Pty Ltd (AJF Foote Family A/C) 3,605,369 2.37
Grand Circle Opportunities Pty Ltd 3,400,000 2.24
TGO Holdings Pty Ltd (TGO Trust 2 A/C) 2,972,281 1.96
Ward Portfolio Pty Ltd 2,684,304 1.77
Trimantium Limited 2,431,045 1.60
Andrew Douglas Fyffe + Jacqueline Joanne Fyffe (Fyffe Family A/C) 2,413,304 1.59
Bricktowne Ii Llc 2,189,492 1.44
Ms Jennifer Dryan Smorgon 2,030,221 1.34
Xperior Group Pty Ltd 2,000,000 1.32
Growthops Holdings Pty Ltd (Tgo Trust 1 A/C) 1,981,520 1.30
AJF Foote Pty Ltd (AJF Foote Family A/C) 7 1,802,685 1.19
JL Stephens Pty Ltd (JL Stephens Family A/C) 1,802,685 1.19

122,697,849 80.77
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Unquoted equity securities
Number Number
on issue of holders

Convertible redeemable preference shares 11,444,050 15
Performance rights                                                          1,225,000 11
Share options                                                                  1,720,000 7
 
Substantial holders
Substantial holders in the Company are set out below:
 

Ordinary shares
 % of total 
 shares

Number held issued

Asia Selangor Investments Pty Ltd 20,000,000 13.16
TGO Holdings 2 Pty Ltd 17,000,000 11.19
Trimantium CT Pty Ltd (Tc Special Operations A/C) 16,380,782 10.78
Pattani Private Capital Pty Ltd 14,712,359 9.68
 
Voting rights
The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below:
 
Ordinary shares
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote.
 
There are no other classes of equity securities.
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